

## RESPONDING TO FORCED MARRIAGE

**MULTI-AGENCY PRACTICE GUIDELINES** 



#### © Crown copyright 2011

You may re-use this information (excluding logos and images) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This document is also available from our website at www.scotland.gov.uk.

ISBN: 978-1-78045-493-1

The Scottish Government St Andrew's House Edinburgh EH1 3DG

Produced for the Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland DPPAS12171 (11/11)

Published by the Scottish Government, November 2011

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

These practice guidelines have been adapted with permission from *Multi-agency* practice guidelines: Handling cases of forced marriage, Forced Marriage Unit, HM Government 2009. The four personal statements are taken from the FMU leaflet What is a forced marriage?

The Scottish Government would like to thank the Forced Marriage Unit for allowing us to freely use these and other materials.

Additional case studies provided by: Lothian and Borders Police, Shakti Women's Aid and NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde.

The guidelines were compiled by Shirley Henderson with assistance from the Scottish Government forced marriage practitioner guidelines reference group:

- Helen Boyle, Inspector, Diversity Unit, Lothian and Borders Police
- Kate Fennell, Lead Officer, Adult Protection, City of Edinburgh Council
- Eileen Flanagan, Gender, LGBT Equality and Violence Against Women Team,
   Scottish Government
- Debra Forrester, Staff Officer, ACPOS Public Protection Portfolio, Lothian and Borders Police
- Louise Johnson, National Worker Legal Issues, Scottish Women's Aid
- Linda Kergan, Gender-based Violence Advisor, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
- Lorna Pender, Gender-based Violence Advisor, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
- Girijamba Polubothu, Manager, Shakti Women's Aid
- Emma Wilson, Support and Wellbeing Unit, Learning Directorate, Scottish Government

We would also like to thank the many individuals who read and commented on drafts including:

- Chaz Akoshile, Joint Head, Forced Marriage Unit
- Bharati Bundhoo, Community Learning and Development (Youth), Glasgow Life
- Donna Brown, Victims and Equality Policy, Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service
- John Butcher, Head of Inclusion, Glasgow City Council/Chair Association of Directors of Education
- Lisa Curtice, Director, Scottish Consortium for Learning Disability
- Ann Hayne, Manager, EVA Services and Operational Advisor on Genderbased Violence, NHS Lanarkshire
- Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid
- Shaykh Amer Jamil, Unity Family Services
- Lydia Okroj, Housing Development Worker, Scottish Women's Aid
- Kathryn Sharp, Partnership Co-ordinator Tackling Violence Against Women,
   Dundee Violence Against Women Partnership
- Jenny Blyth Speirs, Secretariat, Scotland and Northern Ireland UK Border Agency

#### **CONTENTS**

Key	practice messages	1
One	e chance checklist	3
Sec	tion 1: Background information	5
1.	Background	6
2.	Advice and assistance for victims and practitioners	9
3.	Definitions	13
Sec	tion 2: Understanding and approach: information for all practitioners	17
4.	Facts about forced marriage	18
5.	Responding to forced marriage: a good practice approach	31
6.	Safety planning	48
7.	Checklist: actions to take in all cases	52
8.	Checklist: information required for all cases	55
Sec	tion 3: Legal context and remedies	59
9.	The Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction)(Scotland)	
	Act 2011 and how it works	60
	<ul><li>Summary of provisions</li><li>Forced Marriage Protection Orders</li></ul>	60 61
	<ul> <li>Torced Marriage Protection Orders</li> <li>Third party applications for Forced Marriage Protection Orders</li> </ul>	62
10.		
	child protection	68
11.	Options for protection under the law: other civil remedies	71
12.	Forced marriage and immigration and nationality issues	73

Section 4: Servicespecific information		75
13.	Guidelines for health workers	76
14.	Guidelines for school, college and university staff	84
15.	Guidelines for police officers	94
16.	Guidelines for children and families social workers	99
17.	Guidelines for adult support and protection staff	109
18.	Guidelines for local authority housing staff	119
Sect	tion 5: Contacts and information	125
19.	Key contacts	126
20.	Resources and further reading	131
App	pendix	134
21.	Domestic violence provisions in the immigration rules	134

#### **Key to symbols**



Key practice messages



Safety alerts



#### **KEY PRACTICE MESSAGES**

Always remember the 'one chance' rule: you may only have one chance to speak to a potential victim of forced marriage and, therefore, only one chance to save a life

#### **ABOUT FORCED MARRIAGE**

- ✓ Everyone has a right to enter into marriage with their full and free consent and to make decisions about their lives
- ✓ A forced marriage is a marriage in which one or both spouses do not (or, in the case of children/young people/adults at risk, cannot) consent to the marriage and duress is involved. Duress can include physical, psychological, financial, sexual and emotional pressure, threatening conduct, harassment, threat of blackmail, use of deception and other means. It is also 'force' to knowingly take advantage of a person's incapacity to consent to, or understand the nature of, the marriage. Duress may be from parents, other family members and the wider community
- ✓ Forced marriage is a form of violence against women/gender-based violence and, when children are involved, child abuse. It is associated with other forms of domestic abuse and 'honour-based' violence
- ✓ Forced marriage is different to arranged marriage in which the families of both spouses take a leading role in arranging the marriage but the prospective spouses have the choice whether or not to accept the arrangement. This tradition has existed successfully in many communities and countries for a very long time. But, if the spouse changes their mind and is forced to go ahead with the marriage, it is considered a forced marriage
- ✓ Women are usually the victims of forced marriage but men can be victims too. People with physical and learning disabilities may be forced into marriage by families wanting to ensure their long-term care. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender people are also affected
- ✓ Victims are under **enormous** cultural pressure to conform to the wishes of family and community. This is often accompanied by severe physical, emotional and sexual abuse. It is not uncommon for victims to be killed (so-called 'honour' killing) or to commit suicide
- ✓ The circumstances of forced marriage are such that victims may remain with or return to families and communities or not be able to follow through on actions. This is not a failure on their part. Stress to victims that your service is always available to them

#### **LEGAL CONTEXT**

- ✓ Forced marriage is an abuse of children's rights under the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. It is also an abuse of the basic human rights of children, young people and adults, as set out in the European Convention on Human Rights and is directly contrary to the domestic laws of Scotland and the other UK countries
- ✓ Forcing someone to marry or taking advantage of their lack of understanding to trick them into taking part in a marriage is against the law in Scotland; so too is taking someone away from Scotland, against their will, to be married elsewhere. There may be associated criminal activities such as abduction; physical abuse; and threats
- ✓ Forced Marriage Protection Orders (under the Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction)(Scotland) Act 2011) aim to protect people who are threatened with or who are already in a forced marriage; third parties can apply for these on a victim's behalf
- ✓ There are complexities associated with factors such as immigration status; nationality; dual nationality and whether the victim is in Scotland, elsewhere in the UK or overseas. These complexities affect how you can assist victims

#### **FOCUS ON SAFETY AND PROTECTION**

- Always focus on the safety and protection of victims and avoid contributing to risk
- ✓ Always take the issue and the concerns of the victim seriously and recognise the potential risk of very significant harm to the victim: many practitioners underestimate, or find it hard to believe the lengths that families go to in order to force a marriage and that families do kill in the name of 'honour'
- ✓ Never attempt family counselling, mediation, arbitration and reconciliation if forced marriage is an issue because this can put victim at further risk
- ✓ Never share information with family/friends/community members; and, if sharing information with other practitioners in your own or other agencies, only do so if necessary to protect victims
- ✓ Always store information about the case securely, with restricted access and in compliance with record management procedures
- ✓ Remember that family/community members may work in your agency
- ✓ Remember that a victim's life may be at stake



#### **ONE CHANCE CHECKLIST**

You may only have one chance to speak to a potential victim of forced marriage and, therefore, only one chance to save a life

See the victim¹ on her own - even if she is accompanied by others
See her immediately in a secure and private place where you will not be overheard
Reassure her about confidentiality (in line with your organisation's policy) and explain that you will not give information to her family/friends or community
Accept what she says
Explain all the options to her and their possible outcomes
Recognise and respect her wishes
Assess the risk she faces by conducting a thorough risk assessment
Contact, as soon as possible, the lead worker responsible for forced marriage (If she is under 16, refer to child protection inter-agency guidance; If she is an adult at risk, discuss with your adult support and protection lead and refer to inter-agency guidance)
Agree a way to contact her safely (for example agree a code word)
Obtain full details to pass on to the lead worker and record these safely
Give her (or help her memorise) your contact details and/or those of a support agency such as Women's Aid
Consider the need for immediate police involvement, protection and placement away from the family and arrange this if necessary; this includes any action to stop her from being removed from the UK
Do everything you can to keep her safe
Get immediate advice if you are not sure what to do

#### **DO NOT**

- Send her away or let her leave without a safety plan and follow up arrangements
- Approach her friends/family or community unless she asks you to do so
- Approach community leaders for advice
- Share information with anyone without her express consent (unless there is a risk of immediate harm to her or any children or she lacks capacity to give consent or she is unable to give informed consent)
- Attempt to mediate with the family

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Victims can be male or female, but are most likely to be the latter. See page 8.

## BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Marriage shall be entered into only with the free and full consent of the intending spouses.

Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Article 16(2)

- 1. Background
- 2. Advice and assistance for victims and practitioners
- 3. Definitions

#### 1. BACKGROUND

#### SCOTTISH LEGISLATION

The Scottish Parliament passed the Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction) (Scotland) Act 2011 (referred to in this document as the 'Forced Marriage Act') both to protect people from being forced to marry without their free and full consent as well as those who have already been forced to do so. See page 60 for a summary of the Act or read it in full online at

www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/15/pdfs/asp\_20110015\_en.pdf

#### AIMS OF THE MULTI-AGENCY PRACTICE GUIDELINES

These practice guidelines aim to inform frontline practitioners who are responsible for protecting children and adults from the abuse associated with forced marriage. They do not require significant changes in practice. You should use existing structures, policies and procedures designed to protect children, adults at risk and those experiencing domestic abuse. But, in doing so, you must be mindful of the specific risks and dangers associated with forced marriage. Risks to victims may be increased by all forms of family counselling, mediation, arbitration and conciliation; by failing to share or store information appropriately or safely; by involving families; and by breaches of confidentiality.

Given the nature of forced marriage, no single agency can meet all the needs of someone affected by forced marriage. These practice guidelines, therefore, aim to encourage practitioners to work together safely to protect victims. This approach is also consistent with the Scottish Government's emphasis on a multi-agency response to tackling domestic abuse and responding to children and adults at risk of harm.

There are multi-agency partnerships for violence against women in all local authorities. They are a good source of information and support for multi-agency working on these issues. Other relevant partnerships include Community Planning; Community Safety; Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences; Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements; Child Protection and Adult Protection Committees.

Although forced marriage is primarily an issue of violence against women, the guidelines provide information relevant to practitioners assisting both male and female victims.

#### WHO THE PRACTICE GUIDELINES ARE FOR

The practice guidelines are for all frontline staff and volunteers within agencies which are likely to come across adults or children and young people threatened with or in a forced marriage. Although section 4 is specifically aimed at those working within health, education, police, child protection, adult support and protection, and housing, the information in the rest of the document is relevant to many others including, for example, Registrars, Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service, Children's Reporters, Department for Work and Pensions staff, HR professionals, solicitors and those working in voluntary organisations.

These guidelines have been adapted from materials already developed by the UK Forced Marriage Unit (FMU) (see page 10). A Scottish Government reference group representing statutory and voluntary organisations has contributed to ensure that they are relevant to practitioners in the Scottish context.

#### STATUTORY GUIDANCE

The Scottish Government has published forced marriage statutory guidance<sup>2</sup> under section 11 of the Forced Marriage Act. The statutory guidance sets out the responsibilities of chief executives, directors and senior managers within agencies involved in handling cases of forced marriage. It covers roles and responsibilities, accountability, training, inter-agency working and information sharing, risk assessment and record keeping.

#### STATUS OF THE PRACTICE GUIDELINES

The practice guidelines (this document) complement the above statutory guidance. The statutory guidance states that front line practitioners 'should consult the forced marriage practice guidelines to be issued [...] by the Scottish Government'.

The Scottish Government is committed to tackling domestic abuse and all forms of violence against women<sup>3</sup>. Forced marriage is a form of domestic abuse and should be treated as such. Ignoring the needs of and risks to victims is potentially dangerous practice and would be viewed as a breach of professional responsibility.

The Scottish Government's Statutory Guidance is available here: www.scotland.gov.uk/ForcedMarriageStatutory

Safer Lives, Changed Lives: a shared approach to tackling violence against women in Scotland, Scotlish Government, 2009 www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/06/02153519/0

#### **TERMINOLOGY: MALE/FEMALE VICTIMS**

Given prevalence rates (86 per cent of cases referred to the FMU involve women) and the fact that the consequences are different for women and men, the guidelines refer to victims of forced marriage as 'women' and focus mainly on women's needs which are different from those of men. This is in no way intended to diminish the experience of, or risks posed to, male victims of forced marriage. Much of the guidance applies to men in or facing forced marriage and they should be given the same assistance and respect as women when they seek help. For more information on supporting male victims see the Men's Advice Line at

#### www.respect.uk.net/pages/male-victims-of-forced-marriage.html

Findings from research suggest that forced marriage involving people with learning disabilities may occur at a similar rate for men and women, although the consequences are still likely to affect women disproportionately. More information on this is at www.fco.gov.uk/forcedmarriage

See definitions on page 13.

#### **REDUCING HARM**

The guidelines focus on specific areas where practitioners may inadvertently endanger a victim and set out what practitioners can do, both individually and in partnership with other agencies, to reduce harm.

#### THE UK CONTEXT

Most of the legislation, policies and procedures referred to in these guidelines are relevant to devolved matters which are the responsibility of the Scottish Government. However, key aspects, notably immigration affairs, no recourse to public funds (see pages 73-74) and nationality are reserved matters (i.e. UK-wide) and, consequently, the responsibility of the UK Government. Immigration affairs are dealt with by the Home Office UK Border Agency:

#### www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk

Some victims may move between Scotland and other jurisdictions in the UK. This may add complications. For example, whereas young people are regarded as adults in Scotland from age 16 (but see definitions on page 13), the age of majority in England is 18. This may affect the availability of services. It may be important to point out any differences to colleagues south of the border and for you to be aware of those operating elsewhere in the UK.

The Forced Marriage Unit is a joint initiative of the Home Office and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office and has a UK-wide remit (see page 10). Some victims may move between Scotland and overseas jurisdictions. Where cross-border or international issues arise, it is recommended that you advise, and seek assistance from, the FMU.

### 2. ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE FOR VICTIMS AND PRACTITIONERS

There are often complexities with forced marriage associated with immigration status, nationality, different legal systems, where the victim is and where the marriage took or is intended to take place.

The specific circumstances of each case will influence who you might approach for advice or assistance either for yourself as a practitioner or on behalf of a victim.

Shakti Women's Aid, Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid, Amina, the Muslim Women's Resource Centre and Saheliya have considerable expertise of working with victims in Scotland (see pages 126-127) and the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10) across the whole UK. The FMU may be particularly helpful if a woman is in, or moving to, England or out of the UK.

Overseas, UK Embassies and High Commissions can offer consular assistance to British nationals plus, in certain circumstances, European Union or Commonwealth nationals whose country does not have a local Embassy or Consulate in the country concerned. They cannot offer assistance to European Union or Commonwealth nationals in the country of their own nationality.

When a British national approaches a British Embassy or High Commission, the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) may try to repatriate her as soon as possible. This means that agencies in the UK may receive little notice about her arrival. Sometimes the FCO asks the police or a local authority for assistance when a British national is being repatriated to the UK from overseas.

If an individual is a British national and also holds the nationality of another country, she is considered to be a dual national (see page 74). This may mean that the authorities in the country of her other nationality may view her as being solely or primarily a national of that country and treat her accordingly. Consequently, those authorities may not see the British Embassy or High Commission as having any right to assist her or may not permit any assistance to be given.

If the FCO thinks that there is a special humanitarian reason to do so, it will consider offering assistance to dual nationals in the country of their other nationality. Forced marriage is one of those circumstances where such an exception may be made.

#### THE FORCED MARRIAGE UNIT (FMU)

The FMU is a joint FCO and Home Office unit. It offers advice to anyone in the UK, regardless of nationality, and specific assistance to British nationals facing forced marriage abroad. It works with government departments, statutory agencies and voluntary organisations on policy and runs an outreach programme. It also offers a casework service as follows:

- Public helpline offering confidential advice and support to victims, and practitioners handling cases of forced marriage. Caseworkers in the unit have experience of the cultural, social and emotional issues surrounding forced marriage
- UK cases: information and support to those who fear they will be forced into marriage and can talk with them about their options
- Overseas cases: can assist British nationals facing forced marriage abroad by helping them to a place of safety and to return to the UK; also can assist non-British nationals facing forced marriage abroad by referring them to local organisations which can help
- Immigration cases: can help those who have already been forced into marriage to explore their options, including assisting those who are being forced to sponsor a spouse's visa for settlement in the UK

The FMU can assist a British national's return to the UK by providing emergency travel documents, helping to arrange flights and, if possible, arranging temporary accommodation whilst the woman is overseas. The FCO may ask the police to meet a victim on arrival in the UK in case family members try to abduct her at the airport.

The FCO is obliged to ask the victim or trusted friends to fund the cost of repatriation. In some cases, repatriation has been funded by a local authority. The FMU, in certain very exceptional circumstances, may provide a loan from public funds to help a victim return to the UK, but only when all other avenues have been exhausted. She has to sign an agreement to pay the loan in full and secure the loan by giving up her passport to consular staff who can issue her with an emergency travel document valid for a single journey to the UK. Once the loan is repaid in full, her passport is returned, or a new passport issued.

Regardless of how the cost is finally met, this matter should never delay the process of getting the victim to safety.

The UK has special agreements dealing with child abduction with Pakistan (Anglo-Pakistan Protocol) and Egypt (Cairo Declaration). Contact the FCO for more information.

#### When to contact the FMU

You should alert the FMU if you know, or suspect, that a victim has been, or is being, taken out of Scotland, or abroad. It can assist in alerting the police and authorities at points of departure so that the victim and those accompanying her can be detained and prevented from leaving the UK.

The FMU is happy to talk to practitioners handling cases of forced marriage at any stage in a case. It can offer information and advice on responding to forced marriage, including overseas assistance and how to approach victims. The FMU can also speak at conferences, run training workshops, and provide free leaflets and posters.

#### **Contact details**

Tel: 020 7008 0151 (Mon-Fri: 9am-5pm)

Email: fmu@fco.gov.uk

Web: www.fco.gov.uk/forcedmarriage

Address: Forced Marriage Unit, Room K4.7, Consular Directorate, Foreign & Commonwealth Office, London, SW1A 2AH

For emergencies out of hours, phone 020 7008 1500 and ask for the Global Response Centre.

#### **WOMEN'S AID IN SCOTLAND**

Women's Aid provides advice, support and safe refuge for women, children and young people experiencing domestic abuse. There are Women's Aid groups across Scotland and all should be able to provide advice and assistance both to victims and practitioners.

Services available to women include:

- Assistance into safe temporary accommodation either in a refuge or with a local authority; this could be local or elsewhere
- One-to-one emotional and practical support
- Information about legal issues and assisting them to get legal advice
- Advocacy to help secure benefits, housing and legal protection
- Resettlement support
- Language support
- Children and young people's services

Children and young people's workers also offer support to young people at school and/or other places where it is safe for them to do so.

Shakti Women's Aid and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid have particular expertise in working with black minority ethnic women and their children, including those in, or threatened with, forced marriage. Both services offer an outreach service to young women experiencing domestic abuse in the context of forced marriage and who are not yet ready to leave their homes.

See pages 126-127 for contact details.

#### SUPPORT FOR PRACTITIONERS

Supporting someone who is at risk of, or already in, a forced marriage can be stressful. It can be distressing to hear accounts of trauma and abuse and practitioners sometimes worry that they may be overwhelmed by it. It is also common to feel frustrated or helpless if you cannot 'solve' the problem or if you find it difficult to accept or understand how a woman is somehow 'not able' to leave an abusive situation. It is important to recognise how you feel and ask for support or guidance from a colleague or line manager.

You or a colleague may have personal experience as a victim of such abuse. If so, it is important to recognise how this experience is affecting you/your colleague. Your agency should have an employee policy (for example domestic abuse policy, stalking policy) to guide how you/your colleague can be supported at work.

If you are concerned that a colleague might be involved in perpetrating a forced marriage, check your agency's employee policy for guidance about who to approach or how to address this issue.

For health workers, NHSScotland has produced a gender-based violence employee PIN (Partnership Information Network) guideline which includes forced marriage: www.gbv.scot.nhs.uk

#### **FURTHER INFORMATION AND TRAINING**

The statutory guidance requires organisations to ensure that their staff are aware of and trained to respond to forced marriage. The contacts section lists various organisations which can give you more information about training providers. See also **www.womenssupportproject.co.uk/vawtraining** 

See section 5.

#### 3. DEFINITIONS

The guidelines use the following definitions:

#### **FORCED MARRIAGE**

A forced marriage is a marriage in which one or both spouses do not (or, in the case of children and some adults at risk, cannot) consent to the marriage and duress is involved. Duress can include physical, psychological, financial, sexual and emotional pressure.

For the definition at law see:

www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/15/pdfs/asp\_20110015\_en.pdf

#### ARRANGED MARRIAGE

An arranged marriage is one in which the families of both spouses take a leading role in arranging the marriage but the choice whether or not to accept the arrangement remains with the prospective spouses.

#### **HONOUR-BASED VIOLENCE**

The terms 'honour crime', 'honour-based violence' and 'izzat' embrace a variety of crimes of violence (mainly but not exclusively against women), including physical abuse, sexual violence, abduction, forced marriage, imprisonment and murder where the person is being punished by their family or their community. They are punished for actually, or allegedly, 'undermining' what the family or community believes to be the correct code of behaviour. In transgressing this, the person shows that they have not been properly controlled to conform by their family and this is to the 'shame' or 'dishonour' of the family. 'Honour crime' may be considered by the perpetrator(s) as justified to protect or restore the 'honour' of a family.

#### **VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN**

The Scottish Government defines forced marriage as a form of violence against women. The full definition of violence against women is in Safer Lives, Changed Lives: a shared approach to tackling violence against women in Scotland, Scottish Government, 2009<sup>4</sup>.

Safer Lives, Changed Lives: a shared approach to tackling violence against women in Scotland, Scottish Government, 2009 www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/06/02153519/0

#### **GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE**

This is defined by the United Nations<sup>5</sup> as 'violence that is directed against a woman because she is a woman, or violence that affects women disproportionately; it encompasses a spectrum of abuse that includes domestic abuse, rape and sexual assault, childhood sexual abuse, sexual harassment, stalking, commercial sexual exploitation, and harmful traditional practices such as female genital mutilation (FGM), forced marriage and so-called 'honour' crimes'.

#### **DOMESTIC ABUSE**

The National Strategy to Address Domestic Abuse in Scotland (2000)<sup>6 7</sup> states:

'Domestic abuse (as gender-based abuse), can be perpetrated by partners or ex-partners and can include physical abuse (assault and physical attack involving a range of behaviour), sexual abuse (acts which degrade and humiliate women and are perpetrated against their will, including rape) and mental and emotional abuse (such as threats, verbal abuse, racial abuse, withholding money and other types of controlling behaviour such as isolation from family or friends).'

#### The strategy recognises that:

'Domestic abuse is most commonly perpetrated by men against women and takes a number of specific and identifiable forms. The existence of violence against men is not denied, nor is the existence of violence in same sex relationships, nor other forms of abuse, but domestic abuse requires a response which takes account of the gender specific elements and the broader gender inequalities which women face.'

#### It also states:

"...in accepting this definition, it must be recognised and taken into account that, particularly among black and minority ethnic communities, other family members connected to a woman through marriage may be involved in, or may participate in the abuse of the woman. In certain cases, abuse is perpetrated by other family members, even without the knowledge of the partner. In addition, there is abuse of women by members of their own families in the context of forced, as opposed to arranged, marriages or as a result of their failed marriages or divorce."

United Nations definition: www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/recommendations/recomm.htm#recom19

The National Strategy to Address Domestic Abuse in Scotland (2000) www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/158940/0043185.pdf

There are other national definitions as included within the ACPOS/COPFS protocol: www.acpos.police.uk/Documents/Policies/CRIME%20-%20ACPOS%20COPFS%20Domestic%20 Abuse.pdf

#### **VICTIM**

The term 'victim' is used throughout this document for the sake of simplicity to refer to people who are, or have been, or are at risk of being forced into marriage against their will. This term is not used to connote weakness or inferiority.

#### **PERPETRATOR**

The term 'perpetrator' is used to refer to the people who are forcing someone to marry. This may include the spouse or prospective spouse, close and extended family members and members of the wider community.

#### **RELEVANT THIRD PARTY (RTP)**

Under the Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction) (Scotland) Act 2011, a relevant third party can apply for a Forced Marriage Protection Order (see page 62) without the permission of the court. RTPs are specified as a local authority, the Lord Advocate and others specified by Scottish Ministers. Any other third party can apply for a FMPO but they need the court's permission to do so.

#### CHILD, CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Practitioners must be clear that when children and young people are forced into marriage there should be a child protection response and that they should refer to local inter-agency child protection procedures and the Scottish Government's National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>8</sup>.

The National Guidance explains that a child can be defined differently in different legal contexts.

Section 93(2)(a) and (b) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 defines a child in relation to the powers and duties of the local authority. Young people between the age of 16 and 18 who are still subject to a supervision requirement by a Children's Hearing can be viewed as a child. Young people over the age of 16 may still require intervention to protect them.

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child applies to anyone under the age of 18. However, Article 1 states that this is the case unless majority is attained earlier under the law applicable to the child.

Although the differing legal definitions of the age of a child can be confusing, the priority is to ensure that a vulnerable young person who is, or may be, at risk of significant harm is offered support and protection. The individual young person's

Scottish Government's National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010): www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

circumstances and age will, by default, dictate what legal measures can be applied. For example, the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007 can be applied to over-16s where the criteria are met. This further heightens the need for local areas to establish very clear links between their Child and Adult Protection Committees and to put clear guidelines in place for the transition from child to adult services. Young people aged between 16 and 18 are potentially vulnerable to falling 'between the gaps' and local services must ensure that processes are in place to enable staff to offer ongoing support and protection as needed, via continuous single planning for the young person.

Where a young person between the age of 16 and 18 requires protection, services will need to consider which legislation, if any, can be applied. This will depend on the young person's individual circumstances as well as on the particular legislation or policy framework. Special consideration will need to be given to the issue of consent and whether an intervention can be undertaken where a young person has withheld their consent.

#### **ADULT**

A person aged 16 or over (but see also above definition of child, children and young people).

#### **ADULT AT RISK**

The Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007<sup>9</sup> defines adults at risk as adults who:

- (a) Are unable to safeguard their own well-being, property, rights or other interests **and**
- (b) Are at risk of harm and
- (c) Because they are affected by disability, mental disorder, illness or physical or mental infirmity, are more vulnerable to being harmed than adults who are not so affected

'Risk of harm' for the purposes of subsection (1) is if:

- (a) Another person's conduct is causing (or likely to cause) the adult to be harmed or
- (b) The adult is engaging (or is likely to engage) in conduct which causes (or is likely to cause) self-harm

The Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents



# UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACH: INFORMATION FOR ALL PRACTITIONERS

No marriage shall be legally entered into without the full and free consent of both parties.

United Nations Convention on consent to marriage, minimum age for marriage and registration of marriages, Article 1

- 4. Facts about forced marriage
- **5.** Responding to forced marriage: a good practice approach
- 6. Safety planning
- 7. Checklist: actions to take in all cases
- **8.** Checklist: information required for all cases

#### 4. FACTS ABOUT FORCED MARRIAGE

#### WHAT IS FORCED MARRIAGE?

A forced marriage occurs when one or both spouses do not (or, in the case of children and some adults at risk, cannot) consent to the marriage and duress is involved. Duress can include physical, psychological, financial, sexual and emotional pressure, threatening conduct, harassment, threat of blackmail, use of deception and other means. It is also force knowingly to take advantage of a person's incapacity to consent to, or understand the nature of, the marriage.

The Scottish and UK Governments regard forced marriage as a form of domestic abuse, an abuse of human rights and, when children and young people are affected, child abuse.

There is a direct link between forced marriage and crimes committed in the name of 'honour'. The most extreme examples – 'honour' killings – are committed in the belief that defiled honour can only be redeemed when the source of shame, that is the victim, is removed. This is often done in collusion with relatives and the community.

#### THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN FORCED AND ARRANGED MARRIAGE

Forced marriage is different from arranged marriage. In an arranged marriage, the families of both spouses take a leading role in arranging the marriage but the choice whether or not to accept the arrangement remains with the prospective spouses.

In forced marriage, one or both spouses do not (or, in the case of children<sup>10</sup> and some adults at risk, cannot) consent to the marriage and duress is involved.

If families have to resort to violence or emotional pressure to make someone marry, that person's consent has not been given freely and, therefore, it is a forced marriage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A couple cannot be legally married in Scotland unless both parties are at least 16 on the day of the wedding and are capable of understanding the nature of a marriage ceremony and of consenting to the marriage. Parental consent is not required.

#### **RELATIONSHIP TO DOMESTIC ABUSE**

Forced marriage is a particular form of domestic abuse. While forced marriage has its own causes and solutions, understanding it as domestic abuse will help you provide an effective response. It is also important to understand the cultural context within which forced marriage occurs. While the victim's partner or potential partner may perpetrate the abuse, in forced marriage, close and extended family members, children, siblings, and in-laws are typically involved and responsible. Victims are under enormous pressure to conform to the expectations and demands of their family, and the consequences for not doing so are considerable.

Victims of forced marriage often experience rape, physical, emotional and psychological abuse. Forced pregnancy, and restrictions on freedom of dress, behaviour and lifestyle are common. Some women are virtually under 'house arrest' and may only be allowed out if accompanied by family members. They may also have their passports and legal documents removed.

"I felt I had no option. Once they had taken me out of the country there was nothing I could do. I had no contact with anyone but the family. My mother was caught between my feelings and the community's expectations. They made me feel that I would dishonour my family if I didn't marry him."

#### WHO IS AFFECTED?

Both men and women are forced into marriage although most cases involve women aged between 13 and 30. However, there is no 'typical' victim of forced marriage.

Forced marriage is not limited to first marriages and can affect those who are widowed or divorced.

Of 1,735 contacts to the Forced Marriage Unit in 2010, 14 per cent involved a male victim and 86 per cent a female victim.

LGBT people are also victims of forced marriage. Of the above contacts, there were 36 instances which involved victims who identified themselves as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (LGBT). See also

www.fco.gov.uk/resources/en/pdf/foced-marriage-lgbt [sic]

Of the above contacts, 70 involved people with disabilities (50 with learning disabilities, 17 with physical disabilities and 3 with both). Evidence suggests that for people with learning disabilities, forced marriage may occur at a similar rate for men and women. Research also indicates that the forced marriage of people with learning disabilities is likely to be significantly under-reported and can differ from the way in which forced marriage presents generally.

Most reported cases in the UK so far have involved South Asian families (Pakistani, Indian and Bangladeshi). This partly reflects the fact that there is a large, established South Asian population here. However, there have been cases involving East Asian, Middle Eastern, European and African communities.

Forced marriage is not associated with particular religions or religious practice and has been recorded in Christian, Jewish, Hindu, Muslim and Sikh communities.

Some forced marriages take place in Scotland with no overseas element, while others involve a partner coming here from overseas or a British national being sent abroad.

Some cases are immigration-related with victims forced to marry family members in order to facilitate their entry to the UK. More information about legality of marriage to family members is at:

#### www.gro-scotland.gov.uk/files2/registration/RM1-Leaflet.pdf

"People don't realise that men can also find themselves in this situation.

I don't know if I could have told anyone even if I'd had the chance to. It's not exactly macho, is it, admitting that you were held hostage by your family and forced to marry someone you'd never met..."

#### PREVALENCE OF FORCED MARRIAGE

Many cases of forced marriage, as with domestic abuse generally, go unreported. Many of the families involved do not consider the marriage as 'forced' and many victims are unwilling to speak out. With greater awareness of the help available, the number of cases reported is likely to increase.

The Forced Marriage Unit deals with around 400 cases of forced marriage a year (469 cases in 2010). Until 2009, approximately ten per cent involved people from Scotland. In 2010, this percentage was significantly less at 2.7 per cent. The likely reason for this is that Scottish victims are now seeking advice and support from organisations in Scotland.

The main support organisations for female victims in Scotland are Shakti Women's Aid in Edinburgh and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid in Glasgow. In 2010-11 Shakti Women's Aid supported 12 forced marriage cases and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid 13 cases (25 cases).

There is no reliable source of information which captures the cases involving male victims of forced marriage in Scotland.

#### **CASE STUDY**

Born and brought up in Scotland, M was 16 when she approached Women's Aid asking for information on domestic abuse 'for a friend'. She came back the next day asking to speak to the same worker and said that her family were forcing her to marry her cousin, also 16. The family planned to visit their home country in the summer holidays and get her married. Her father was abusing her because of her refusal to cooperate and was threatening to stop her from going to school.

Women's Aid helped M plan her escape from home and go to a refuge in another city. It was difficult for her to leave her mother and siblings. She was extremely protective of them, felt guilty about leaving them and worried about them. She was concerned that domestic abuse against her mother by the extended family would increase. So, after a few days in hiding, she phoned her mother who pressured her to meet. Her mother told her:

- 'Your granddad had a heart attack and is in the hospital and wants to see you'
- 'Your sisters and brothers are very upset and not eating'
- 'If you come back, we will move out of Edinburgh, and leave your dad'
- 'We can't face the community so we are leaving the UK'

Despite intense pressure, M was resolute. Eventually, her mother and siblings returned overseas but phoned constantly asking her to join them. Her mother insisted that M should visit for a short while, 'for the family's honour', and that they would not force her to marry. M finally gave in and left Scotland to meet her mother. She later returned to Scotland with a husband. Her two sisters stayed overseas because the family did not want them to refuse to marry as M had done. Both were engaged to their cousins by the time they were 13.

#### **MOTIVES FOR FORCED MARRIAGE**

Perpetrators of forced marriage often justify the practice as protecting their daughters/sons, building stronger families and preserving cultural or religious traditions. They often do not see anything wrong in their actions. They may believe that they are upholding the cultural traditions of their home country although practices and values there may have changed. For adults with support needs, including learning disabilities, families may believe it is the right or only option to secure continuing personal care for that person and may be very open about their intentions.

Some parents come under significant pressure from their extended families to have their daughters/sons married.

Sometimes a marriage agreement is made when a child is an infant. They may go through their entire childhood expecting to marry someone their parents select. They may not know that they have a fundamental human right to choose their own partner. However, they may also be completely unaware, until the marriage is imminent or actually taking place, that they have already been 'promised' in marriage to a complete stranger, or relative, whom they have little or no knowledge about and may never have met.

"I've always wanted to be independent, so I only agreed to go because they said my grandma was sick. It wasn't true; when I got there they showed me new clothes and jewellery and said the wedding would be at the end of the week. They knew I'd be isolated when I got there because I am deaf."

#### **MOTIVES INCLUDE:**

- Controlling unwanted behaviour, sexuality, sexual orientation or gender identity (including perceived promiscuity, or being lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (LGBT) - particularly the behaviour and sexuality of women
- Controlling unwanted behaviour, for example, alcohol and drug use, socialising unchaperoned with, or simply speaking to, members of the opposite sex who are not family members, wearing make-up or behaving in what is perceived to be a 'westernised' manner
- Preventing 'unsuitable' relationships, for example, outside the ethnic, cultural, religious or caste group
- Protecting 'family honour' or 'izzat' (see definitions page 13) (for example this might be related to a victim disclosing rape or sexual abuse)
- Responding to peer group or family pressure about conforming to expectations
- Attempting to strengthen family links

- Financial gain or obtaining financial security for the person with a learning disability
- Ensuring land, property and wealth remain within the family
- Protecting perceived cultural ideals
- Protecting perceived religious ideals
- Ensuring care for someone with learning/physical disability when parents or existing carers are unable to fulfil that role or because of mistrust of external social care
- Concerns that younger siblings may be seen as undesirable if older sons or daughters are not already married – this could include marrying off a young person with learning/physical disability because their unmarried status might be seen as a barrier to marriage for their siblings
- Assisting claims for UK residence and citizenship
- Obtaining physical assistance or personal care for ageing parents

"My family were shocked and very angry when they found out I was gay. They were violent towards me and called me names. My mother tried to calm things but couldn't. I felt guilty that I had caused them pain and let them down. They made me feel as if I owed them. They really believed that if I married who they wanted, I would stop being gay."



#### THERE ARE NO EXCUSES

While it is important to be aware of the motives which drive some people to perpetrate forced marriage, you should not accept them as justification. Forced marriage is a violation of children's rights under the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child as well as a form of violence against women and an abuse of human rights under the Universal Declaration on Human Rights.

There is no justification for forced marriage or for practitioners not acting to prevent it. You may be concerned about cultural sensitivity. But such concerns do not excuse failure to assist victims or to take action (safely) if you suspect that someone is forcing or has forced another into marriage.

Forced marriage cannot be justified on religious grounds: every major faith condemns it and freely given consent in marriage is a prerequisite of all religions.

#### AGGRAVATING FACTORS

Certain factors may increase the risk of forced marriage:

- If a parent dies, especially the father, the surviving parent may think it more urgent to ensure that daughters/sons are married; similarly in single parent households or when a step parent moves in with the family
- When an older sibling (particularly a daughter) refuses to marry, the younger female siblings may be forced to marry in order to protect the family honour or to fulfil the original contract
- If a child/young person discloses sexual abuse, this could be seen as bringing shame on the child young/person and, by extension, on the family. If the young person who discloses the abuse becomes known to people outside the family, it may damage their chances of future marriage. Therefore, family members may think that marriage will restore honour. They may also believe that marriage will end the abuse
- If a young woman is raped, the family may want her married as soon as possible before this is common knowledge within the community, thus damaging her family's 'honour' and her own and siblings marriage prospects. If the perpetrator is known to the family and is from the same faith and caste, the family may ask him to marry her

- O If someone is lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (LGBT), the family may think that marriage will mean that their sexuality or gender identity will not be questioned. They may also believe that marriage will 'cure' the individual of what they perceive to be abnormal sexual practices
- If someone has a physical or learning disability, the family may think that marriage will provide them with a carer/financial security. Also by 'marrying off' the person, the family ensures that the marriage prospects of siblings are not tarnished by having the victim remain unmarried

#### **EFFECTS ON THE VICTIM**

As with other forms of domestic and child abuse, isolation is one of the biggest issues for victims. There may be no-one they can trust. They may not be able to speak or understand English.

Women rarely disclose if they are threatened with forced marriage. So, they often come to the attention of practitioners for behaviour or health issues consistent with distress (for example stress-related and mental health issues; self harm).

Young women are often taken out of education, restricting their educational and personal development. Their movements and contacts outside the immediate family and community may be prevented or restricted.

They may feel unable to act against the wishes of their parents. Their parents may threaten to disown them if they do, also affecting their relationship with the wider family/community. So, they may suffer emotionally, often leading to depression and self-harm. Research indicates that self-harm and suicide are significantly higher among South Asian women<sup>11</sup> than other groups and contributory factors include lack of self-determination, excessive control, weight of expectations of the role of women and anxiety about their marriages.

Having a learning or physical disability or illness may be an additional risk factor for victims and may make it more difficult for them to report abuse, seek help or leave an abusive situation. Their care needs may make them entirely dependent on their carers.

All these factors can contribute to impaired health, social development, limited career and educational opportunities, financial dependence and lifestyle restrictions.

See for example, Self harm in British South Asian Women: psychosocial correlates and strategies for prevention, Husain M, Waheed W, Husain N: Annals of General Psychiatry 2006

#### **CONSEQUENCES OF FORCED MARRIAGE**

Whether victims remain with, or attempt to flee from the abuse, they face many difficulties.

Women forced to marry frequently end up trapped in a relationship characterised by physical and sexual abuse. They may be raped repeatedly (sometimes until they become pregnant) with health consequences such as sexually transmitted infections and blood-borne viruses. They may be abused by the extended family, for example, made to do all the household chores.

This abuse has a detrimental effect on any dependent children within the household. Children witnessing abuse can be traumatised and their emotional security and capacity to meet the demands of everyday life undermined. Their health, performance at school, general behaviour and demeanour may be affected. There is a strong association with depression, trauma-related symptoms and low self-esteem in adulthood. For more on the effects of domestic abuse on children and young people see **www.scottishwomensaid.org.uk** 

Many young women are withdrawn from education. Interrupted education limits career choices. Even if a woman manages to find work, however basic, her family may prevent her from taking the job or take away her earnings. This leads to economic dependence, which makes the possibility of leaving even more difficult. Some women are forced to work, unpaid, within close family or community businesses where they can be monitored.

"My father found out that I had a boyfriend and that changed everything in our family. He literally kept me prisoner in the house, wouldn't let me see my friends and then started planning my wedding – to a man I had never met! He said that I had to follow our customs, and there would be no discussion. I didn't have any way out..."

Some women are not allowed to leave the house unescorted, living under virtual 'house arrest'. Their only source of information is the perpetrator(s), so they are also emotionally isolated. Some are taken and left abroad for extended periods, away from any support. These factors limit opportunity and choice and means they go through with marriage as the only option.

They may find it very difficult to take action to end the marriage.

Leaving the family can be especially hard for women from black and minority ethnic communities. They may have no experience of life outside the family. They may risk losing their children and friends. Finding other accommodation may be very difficult especially for those who do not have recourse to public funds<sup>12</sup>. Living away from home with no or little support can make women more isolated, thus increasing the likelihood of feeling they have no option but to return to the abuse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See page 73

The community may view leaving the family, accusing the family of a crime or simply approaching an agency for help as bringing shame on both its 'honour' and on the honour of the family. This may lead to social ostracism, harassment and even physical or sexual violence by the family and community. Many women are, understandably, unable to face or prepared to undergo this abuse and humiliation.

Those who do leave often live in fear of their families who may go to considerable lengths to find them and bring them back. Families may ask others to help them find the woman, or involve the police by reporting them missing or falsely accusing the woman of a crime (for example theft). Some families have traced women through medical, dental, benefits, school and college records or National Insurance numbers. They may use 'bounty hunters' (people paid to capture fugitives for a monetary reward), private investigators, taxi drivers, shopkeepers and other members of the community. Sometimes, having traced the woman, the family or a third party may subject them to further violence or abuse or murder them (so called 'honour killing').

Most cases which have been reported to the police have also included a level of collusion and planning, usually by way of a family or community meeting to decide how to deal with the issue/victim. This reinforces the isolation victims experience and the restricted options they face when trying to get help and support.

Women who have not been allowed to work, and/or have no money of their own will have to find a way to support themselves and any children and to set up their own home. This is likely to mean needing to claim welfare benefits, a process which they may find confusing and lengthy. It may also be dangerous as family members may be privy to a woman's security information and be able to find out where she is.

For people with learning disabilities, and the spouses they are forced to marry, there can be additional consequences, for example:

- Abandonment the spouse without a disability may not want to provide their care and support, and could reject the person with learning disabilities
- The spouse without a disability may not realise they are committing a criminal offence by having a sexual relationship with a person who does not have the capacity to consent to sex. This is not an excuse
- The spouse without a disability may be subject to violence from their in-law's family should they seek to leave the marriage
- The spouse without a disability may seek exploitative access to the finances of the person with learning disabilities
- The spouse with a learning disability will face more difficulties should they wish to leave the marriage

#### WARNING SIGNS AND INDICATORS

Women facing forced marriage may be anxious, depressed and emotionally withdrawn with low self-esteem. They may come to the attention of practitioners for various reasons, see page 30. (The same indicators could indicate other forms of abuse which also require an effective multi-agency response.)

Other, less common, warning signs include hair cut short or shaved as punishment; young women saying they have been taken to the doctor for virginity testing; and symptoms associated with poisoning (this could be a murder attempt or drugging to gain compliance or suicide attempt).

In certain communities, women are expected to undergo female genital mutilation (FGM) or 'cutting' before marriage. This is usually performed during childhood but there have been reports of young women undergoing FGM just before a forced marriage. FGM is illegal and a criminal offence in Scotland under the Prohibition of Female Genital Mutilation (Scotland) Act 2005<sup>13</sup>, as well as in the rest of the UK under the Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003<sup>14</sup>. It is also a criminal offence under both Acts to take someone overseas for the purposes of FGM.



If someone you are in contact with is going overseas but has no return date this could be a warning sign.

#### WHEN A FORCED MARRIAGE TAKES PLACE OVERSEAS

For many victims, this may be the first time they have travelled overseas and they may not be aware that this is the purpose of their trip (it may be presented as a holiday). If they are held against their will and forced to marry, it may be hard for them to get back to the UK. The difficulties include not being able to phone, write or email; not having their passport; not having any money; not being allowed to leave the house unescorted; and not speaking the local language.

They may be held in remote areas where even getting to the nearest road can be hazardous. They may not get any help from (indeed they may be actively hindered by) the local police, neighbours, family, friends or taxi-drivers.

Prohibition of Female Genital Mutilation (Scotland) Act 2005: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/8/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/31/contents

They may be abused or threatened physically, emotionally and sexually.

Even if the authorities in the UK know where a British national is, it may not be possible to provide suitable assistance to reach the area or to rescue them.



So, always warn victims what might happen if they travel overseas and, if possible, advise them not to travel. Remember the one chance rule (see page 1) and refer also to actions to take (page 52), information gathering (page 55) and legal remedies (section 3).

#### **CASE STUDY**

E was born in the UK but her parents were from Somalia. She was at university and things were not going well at home because her parents thought she was becoming too 'westernised' and disapproved of her smoking and drinking and having a boyfriend. Her mother tricked her, saying that she wanted to take E on holiday to Somalia to show her where she and E's father had grown up. When they arrived, she was chained to a wall of the house in which they were staying until she was forced to marry a much older man. E tried to run away. Her mother called the police and the police arrested E and put her in a prison where there were other women who had resisted marriage. After being let out of prison, E pretended to capitulate. She was allowed to go into the local town where she managed to email a friend in the UK. The friend contacted the Forced Marriage Unit. The FMU managed to arrange to have her smuggled out of Somalia to Ethiopia and onto a plane home where she went into refuge. She was very frightened because she had 'brought shame' on her family by running away and feared that if her family found her, they would kill her.

#### REMEMBER:

In some instances victims themselves may have no indication that they are being forced into marriage e.g. if they think they are 'going on a family holiday' and on arrival in another country are forced into marriage.

For people with disabilities, warning signs may take a long time to emerge, and so all practitioners need to 'think outside the box'.

#### **WARNING SIGNS**

#### **EDUCATION**

- Truancy
- Decline in performance or punctuality
- Low motivation at school
- Poor exam results
- Being withdrawn from school by those with parental responsibility
- Not allowed to attend extracurricular activities

#### HEALTH

- Self-harm
- Attempted suicide
- Eating disorders
- Depression
- Isolation
- Substance misuse

#### **EMPLOYMENT**

- Poor performance
- Poor attendance
- Limited career choices
- Not allowed to work
- Unable to attend business trips
- Unreasonable financial control e.g. confiscation of wages/income

VICTIM OF FORCED MARRIAGE

#### **FAMILY HISTORY**

- Siblings forced to marry
- Early marriage of siblings
- Family disputes
- Running away from home
- Unreasonable restrictions e.g. 'house arrest'

#### POLICE INVOLVEMENT

- Other young people within the family reported missing
- Reports of domestic abuse or breaches of the peace at the family home
- Female genital mutilation
- The victim reported for offences e.g. shoplifting or substance misuse

These lists are inter-linked and are not exhaustive.

# 5. RESPONDING TO FORCED MARRIAGE: A GOOD PRACTICE APPROACH



All practitioners need to actively embrace the 'one chance' rule. That is, you may only have one chance to speak to a potential victim and, therefore, only one chance to save a life. This means that all practitioners need to be aware of their responsibilities to possible victims of forced marriage. If the victim leaves without you offering support, that one chance might be wasted.

Victims of forced marriage are often entrapped by the abusive behaviour and actions of perpetrators – literally, and because of fear and threats. This is all the more intense because of the weight of cultural expectations, the woman's own cultural beliefs, fear of bringing dishonour to the family, along with social ostracism, harassment and actual violence. This makes it very difficult for victims to come forward.

For this reason, it is important that you:

- Start from the position of accepting what women say to you
- O Do everything you can to keep women safe
- Get advice if you are not sure what to do
- Ensure an independent translator is available if necessary
- Be aware a woman might not be allowed or willing to speak to a male worker alone



It is a huge step for women to take action or follow through as there is so much at stake. Remember, it is her choice. Your role is to explain options clearly, help her plan for safety and reassure her that she can come back to you at any time.

Many victims of forced marriage do not fit within adult support and protection or child protection criteria. A victim may be at risk as a result of forced marriage and domestic abuse but not meet the particular criteria defined by legislation. It is important to make sure that any victim, whatever their age or circumstances, who is in, or at risk of, a forced marriage, is supported through effective multiagency working and that you take action to ensure her safety.

#### **PREVENTION**

With better awareness, women are more likely to seek help at an earlier stage. The sooner agencies take effective action, the more likely it is that forced marriages can be prevented.

- Be aware of the issues surrounding forced marriage, the dangers women face and the help available
- Encourage women to come forward by clearly displaying relevant information (but carefully - e.g. put in women's toilets) and providing an environment which is conducive to disclosure
- Be ready to inform women about their options, the help available and how to get it

#### **YOUR APPROACH**

- Take a victim-centred approach (see below)
- Take any disclosure of forced marriage seriously. For many victims, seeking help from an agency is a last resort
- Respect women's concerns for safety and the risks they face
- Provide accurate information about rights and choices
- Listen to the woman and respect her wishes whenever possible
- If a woman wants to take a course of action that may put her or someone else at risk of immediate harm, explain the risks to her and follow your agency's child protection and risk management/assessment procedures
- Do not dismiss forced marriage as a 'family matter' or a cultural or religious practice
- Make sure you keep a (secure) record of contacts made and everything done or said by you, the victim and other agencies contacted

#### **VICTIM-CENTRED RESPONSE**

- Respect a victim's wishes, choices and rights
- Offer the choice of a male or female worker, if possible (but in an emergency speed of action will override this)
- Provide an independent interpreter if necessary. This should be a professional (never a family member, children or an apparent 'friend' who may be a family member masquerading as support)

- Provide a communication specialist if necessary to support a person who is deaf, visually impaired or has learning disabilities. The provisos for interpreters, see below, also apply
- Make it clear to a victim if you are planning to intervene and what you are planning to do, particularly if this involves making an application for a Forced Marriage Protection Order (see page x). This is particularly important if the victim has indicated that she does not want you to take any action but you have a professional responsibility e.g. because she is an adult at risk or a child
- Obtain the victim's consent to share information (within the limits of e.g. child protection policy). Always tell the victim if you are planning to share information; who you will share it with; why; and who else might be party to it. You should also ask/tell her if any other organisations are aware of her circumstances even if you are not planning to share information with them
- If you are making a referral to another service (for example Women's Aid or a solicitor) be prepared to accompany the woman to the appointment

## INTERPRETING<sup>15</sup>

- There are risks in using interpreters, so you should be cautious and do the best you can to minimise these risks
- If interpreters or signers are required, this should be someone independent and professional and not a friend or family member
- Check the interpreter's details (name and area where they are from) with the victim
- Make sure that interpreters sign a confidentiality agreement and understand why
- Ideally, interpreters should be trained in domestic abuse awareness
- Ensure that the interpreter understands that their role is to translate language verbatim, not 'interpret' the message, and absolutely not to advise, censor or correct the person or summarise their response
- Consider using a telephone interpreting service if safe to do so (for example Language Line www.languageline.co.uk). This could be useful in an emergency and for making arrangements for future meetings

See also Good practice guidance on interpreting for women who have experienced gender based violence, Glasgow Violence Against Women Partnership 2011:

www.womenssupportproject.co.uk/userfiles/file/GVAWP%20Good%20Practice%20Guide%202011%20Final%20Nov.pdf

#### **IMPROVING SAFETY**

You can improve women's safety by:

- Being aware of the possibility of abuse
- Recognising signs and symptoms
- Broaching the subject sensitively
- Listening and making time
- Giving accurate information
- Recognising risks correctly
- Working closely with her to identify risks and work out a safety plan
- Working in partnership with other agencies (always bearing in mind the safety of the victim and the need for absolute discretion)

#### SUPPORTING DISCLOSURE

To support disclosure and protect a woman at risk of, or in a forced marriage:

- Remember that she may not want to speak to a man and this could result in her appearing reluctant to speak, so provide a choice of female or male worker
- Provide a private and confidential environment where she can speak without fear of being overheard
- See her on her own, even if she is accompanied. The only exception should be a professional interpreter
- Treat her with respect and dignity. Be aware of the grave risks she may face in talking about abuse
- Recognise that she may be frightened of contact with statutory agencies. She may have been told that she will be deported and/or that her children will be taken from her
- o If she insists on being accompanied e.g. by a teacher or advocate, make sure this person is not linked to her family/community and ensure that they fully understand the need for confidentiality and not telling family members; this may also involve them agreeing to create a credible and consistent cover story if guizzed by the family
- Under no circumstances should a family member, friend or community member or leader be used to interpret



#### **REMEMBER**

- Offer a private space where you will not be overheard
- A woman may not want to be seen by a practitioner from her own community
- Have an excuse or plan ready in case a woman is seen by someone involved in perpetrating the forced marriage or who could (unwittingly) give information back to the perpetrator



#### THE DANGER OF INVOLVING THE FAMILY AND COMMUNITY

Involving families in cases of forced marriage is dangerous. It may increase the risk of serious harm to the woman. The family may not only punish her for seeking help but also deny that they are forcing her to marry; expedite any travel arrangements; and bring forward the marriage.

- Do not visit the family to ask them whether they are intending to force the victim into marriage or write a letter to the family requesting a meeting
- On not use relatives, friends or community leaders as interpreters, regardless of reassurances. Sensitive information may be passed on to others placing the woman or those who are actually willing to support her in danger. Such an interpreter may deliberately mislead practitioners and/or encourage the woman to submit to the family's wishes
- Do not contact an embassy or high commission without a woman's consent. She may not wish anyone in her country of origin to know her whereabouts

#### INTERVIEWING WOMEN

Women are likely to be anxious and distressed. Interviews should take place in a private and secure place free from interruptions, in accordance with your organisation's practices and procedures. Take all steps to ensure that she is safe when in your premises. If it's a public building she could be seen by her family.

#### **ASSESSING AND MANAGING RISK**

You should assess risks to the victim using your current processes but you also need to be aware of the particular risks associated with domestic abuse and forced marriage. The Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment and Honour Based Violence (DASH, 2009) tool may be helpful with this see: **www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk** This risk assessment tool is endorsed by the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) and is being used across England, Wales and Northern Ireland and some areas of Scotland.

See **www.caada.org.uk** for a risk assessment tool which gathers information on domestic abuse, honour-based violence and stalking.

There is also information about risk assessment within the Caledonian System<sup>16</sup> at www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Equality/violence-women/CaledonianSystem

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) operate in various areas. These screen victims of domestic abuse at very high risk of repeat victimisation and provide a multi-agency response to reduce escalation and re-occurrence of serious incidents. The MARAC approach may be a useful framework for providing a multi-agency response (for example for 16-17 year olds who may fall between different procedures). MARACs offer a proactive multi-agency environment for sharing information in a structured way and bringing in agencies with specialist knowledge.

#### SAFETY PLANNING

It is important to agree a safety plan with victims. See page 48 for more information on safety planning.

#### SAFETY FOR FUTURE CONTACT

- If the woman does not want to meet you in your premises, arrange to meet her somewhere she feels comfortable but is safe
- She will know where and when is best to meet you. But remember that she or you may be followed. If she can pretend to be going to meet someone else, who then organises for you to be there, that could be an option
- Never speak to her in the presence of 'friends'
- Find out if you can contact her safely at work, school or through a trusted friend, sibling or organisation

Integrated approach to address men's domestic abuse and to improve the lives of women, children and men.

- If you are phoning her mobile phone, check who pays the bill, as the perpetrator might see the call record
- Agree an unusual code word to ensure that you are speaking to the right person. (This could be an unusual answer to a previously agreed innocuous question)
- If you are using texts, email or post, make sure that messages cannot be intercepted but work on the presumption that they may be
- A third party may be your only link to her especially if she has been taken overseas

#### **EXPLAINING OPTIONS**

A woman who is at risk of forced marriage has limited choices. There are various permutations depending on the circumstances but these are some examples:

- To remain with her family and try to resolve the situation
- To comply with her family's wishes
- To leave her family, start a new life and possibly have to remain in hiding / face ostracism and isolation / take legal action against her family
- To seek legal protection (perhaps in combination with the above)

A woman already trapped in a forced marriage has limited choices:

- To stay in the marriage
- To flee the marriage, with or without her children, start a new life and possibly have to remain in hiding / face ostracism and isolation / take legal action against her family
- To leave the family and publicly refuse to sponsor her spouse's visa application for entry into the UK, or have the spouse removed from the UK if they are already here

#### **REMEMBER:**

- If a woman is forced into a marriage overseas, and the marriage is valid in that country, it is likely that it will also be valid in the UK
- A woman can apply to the court to have her marriage annulled or for divorce
- Under Scots law, a religious divorce on its own does not end the marriage in the eyes of the law (although some women may also want a religious divorce because it is a vital part of ending the marriage)
- Having children or younger siblings can limit a woman's options/choices
- Women who choose to stay within the marriage or return after leaving may be at serious risk of abuse

- Leaving can increase risk and make women's situation's extremely dangerous. Their family or spouse may try to search for them through housing, benefit, employment, education and health records. These records can be protected (see page 46)
- Families may be very persistent and search for women through religious establishments, BME shops/businesses and communities
- Many women will not consider taking action against their family
- Women who are in Scotland on student/dependent/highly skilled immigrant visas who have no recourse to public funds may find it difficult to claim housing and other welfare benefits (see page 73)

#### IF THE WOMAN IS FROM OVERSEAS

If the woman is from overseas, fleeing the marriage and applying to remain in the UK is complicated and requires professional immigration advice.

Note that the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999<sup>17</sup> makes it unlawful for anyone to provide unregulated immigration advice or immigration services unless they are registered as an immigration adviser and/or are exempt from the requirement to register.

Returning to her country of origin is not likely to be an option as she may be ostracised, subjected to violence or even killed. You should explain the risks, even just to exclude this option.

The woman may be extremely frightened about contact with any statutory agency as she may have been told that the authorities will deport her and/or take her children from her. You should be sensitive to these fears, even if she has indefinite leave to remain or a right of abode as she may not be aware of her true immigration position. These circumstances make her particularly vulnerable.

Regardless of whether a woman is in breach of immigration rules (for example if she is an overstayer), she is likely to be the victim of a crime and may be traumatised as a result.

If you are investigating a woman's immigration status, this should not affect police enquiries into an offence that may have been committed against her or her children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The Immigration and Asylum Act 1999: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/33/contents

#### **CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION SHARING**

Women facing or in a forced marriage are understandably very concerned about privacy and confidentiality. They know that if anyone finds out that they have gone for help they will be at serious risk. But they are already likely to be at serious risk because of domestic abuse, 'honour-based' violence, sexual violence and imprisonment within the family.

You must be clear to women about when confidentiality can be promised and when information may need to be shared. You should clearly explain to women what your agency means by 'confidentiality' and the limits to this, e.g. when a child is at serious risk of significant harm.

You may have to share information with others in your own and in other agencies in order to protect women. However, you should think very carefully about the risks before you do so.

Information should not be shared outside the requirement of child or adult protection information sharing protocols without the consent of the individual.

Most women will consent if you explain the reasons and what will happen and give assurances (that the information will not be passed to their family).

Whether or not she consents, you must tell her if you intend to disclose confidential information, what information is being shared, with whom it is being shared, who else will be party to it and why it is being shared. They should also be told which people/organisations are aware of their circumstances, even though specific information may not necessarily be shared with them.

Any decision to disclose/share without consent must be fully recorded.

# **EFFECTIVE INTER-AGENCY WORKING AND INFORMATION SHARING**

Information should only be shared if it is to protect the victim. It should not be shared for the sake of sharing information and must always be justified, necessary and appropriate. Given the high level of risks to victims and the persistence of perpetrators, anyone who processes personal information must comply with the eight principles of the Data Protection Act 1988<sup>18</sup> to make sure that personal information is:

- Fairly and lawfully processed
- Processed for limited purposes
- Adequate, relevant and not excessive

Data Protection Act 1988: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents

- Accurate and up to date
- Not kept for longer than is necessary
- Processed in line with the individual's rights
- Secure
- Not transferred to other countries without adequate protection

#### SHARING PERSONAL INFORMATION

The UK Government Information Commissioner's Office has published a statutory Code of Practice<sup>19</sup> which explains how the Data Protection Act applies to sharing personal data. It provides practical advice to all organisations, whether public, private or third sector, which share personal data and covers systematic data sharing arrangements as well as ad hoc or one-off requests to share personal data.

Adopting the good practice recommendations in the code will allow you to collect and share personal data in a way which complies with the law, is fair, transparent and in line with the rights and expectations of the people whose data is being shared.

The procedures include arrangements for appropriately sharing relevant information with and making referrals to the police, social work, health and the Forced Marriage Unit. For forced marriage, it states:

- 'Staff should understand the importance of sharing appropriate and relevant information with other agencies at the earliest opportunity and the difference between breaking confidence (involving the family, community members and so on without the individual's consent) and sharing information with other professionals to protect the individual from significant harm.'
- 'Staff covered by this guidance must also be aware that the person at risk's confidentiality can be breached through use of interpreters, so they must do their best to use interpreters from <u>outside</u> the local community, in addition to not using community leaders, and staff should check with victims if they are comfortable with the interpreter who is present. If no appropriate interpreter is present staff must consider using language line or other phone interpreting services.'

Information Commissioner's Office Code of Practice: www.ico.gov.uk/for\_organisations/data\_protection/topic\_guides/data\_sharing.aspx

- 'Staff should also be aware that they, other colleagues within the organisation or others within the victim's support network may be approached and/or pressurised by a member of the victim's family, a family friend or a member of the community to give out information.'
- o 'The individual must always be advised of the individual professional and organisations which have been informed of their circumstances, regardless of whether that professional or organisation will be directly involved in supporting them and/or taking action to secure their safety or apply for a Forced Marriage Protection Order. This will include advising the individual what personal or other information that professional or organisation has been given, the obligations on them to maintain the individual's confidentiality and the consequences of breach on both the individual and professional.'

#### **CONSIDER:**

- Your duties and obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998<sup>20</sup> and your organisation's existing information-sharing protocols and procedures for child protection; adult support and protection; domestic abuse
- Consulting a domestic abuse specialist/child protection officer/adult support and protection officer/MARAC co-ordinator about how to share information safely with practitioners from other agencies
- Consulting with other agencies (but be aware if you speak to the police that they are duty bound to act on the information you provide)
- Referring the woman, with consent, to agencies experienced in working with survivors of domestic abuse and forced marriage (see pages 126-127)
- Advising women about remote reporting to the police

#### REMOTE REPORTING

Remote reporting is a way of reporting a crime or passing on information without talking to the police directly. There are various organisations, including Shakti and Amina (see pages 126-127), where victims, witnesses, carers or others can speak privately to a member of staff, and they will pass information onto the police. Individuals can ask for their information to be investigated; leave details, but ask for information not to be investigated; leave no details, and ask for information not to be investigated (this helps police gather intelligence). Check out the arrangements in your area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Data Protection Act 1998: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents

#### **CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE**

A child or young person may ask you not to give information to their parents/ guardians or others with some authority over them. Child protection guidance states that discussion with family and the family's agreement to refer to local authority children and families social work should only be done where such discussion and agreement-seeking will not place a child at increased risk of significant harm. Consequently, you should respect the young person's request for confidentiality, and should not approach or involve families if forced marriage is suspected until steps are taken to ensure the safety of the child.

#### **REMEMBER:**

You may be asked to make exceptional disclosures, for example to police colleagues or other agencies to assist a criminal investigation. The Data Protection Act 1998 (section 29) provides an exemption from certain requirements of that Act in particular circumstances, including for the purposes of preventing or detecting crime. This can enable disclosures to be made without the consent of the subject. This is important as, in some cases, it may not be possible to obtain someone's consent, for example if they are overseas. You should seek advice from your organisation's legal department.

In cases of forced marriage, it is important that agencies work together to help women; inevitably, this involves sharing information safely and appropriately.

If you are not able to obtain a woman's consent, for example, when she is overseas, you should share the information if you are concerned that a crime may be committed.

A woman's family may ask a third party such as a councillor, MSP, MP or influential community member to approach you for information. The family may give the third party a very plausible reason for needing to know the woman's whereabouts, for example, illness of a close relative. The third party may genuinely believe they are being helpful. Such requests are often made by telephone. You should never divulge information in such circumstances. This includes divulging whether the woman is known by your service.

See page 46 for information about keeping records and security of information.



#### DO NOT:

- Overlook possible breaches of confidentiality such as leaks from within your organisation, from records, interpreters and communications with other organisations
- Share information with the woman's family, community or others without her express consent
- Give any details to the media without the woman's express consent but make sure that you fully assess the risk of giving details to the media

#### **MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS**

If you need to arrange a medical examination for a woman (for example, for treatment for injuries or to document evidence), be cautious about the arrangements for this (for example, a local clinic may not be safe). Health professionals should respond to individual requests to organise a safe place or time for such an examination, if at all possible.

If she has injuries or signs of abuse, encourage her to have them documented. Such information may be useful if there is a future court case (especially if she is a spouse from overseas).

Any examination of a child or young person should take place in accordance with the National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>21</sup>.

# **MAKING ENQUIRIES**

You may need to make enquiries about a woman, for example if she is imprisoned in her home or has gone missing (see page 45 for more on missing persons). Gathering such information, whilst maintaining confidentiality, is difficult. Generally, enquiries should be made by police officers with assistance from social workers. However, sometimes education and health practitioners may want to make discreet enquiries before involving the police. You should always consider the potential for unintended consequences triggered by making enquiries and asking questions.

If you need to share such information with other agencies, only do so if they know how to handle such information safely.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0



Simply visiting the family home without knowing the circumstances may put a woman at risk of harm.

If a woman is being held overseas, contacting overseas organisations directly can increase risks:

- The overseas police and other organisations may collude with or have close connections with the family
- They may jeopardise the woman's safety through their attempts to assist
- The family may retaliate against the woman; bring the marriage forward; remove her to an unknown destination

In such circumstances you should liaise closely with the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10).

# THE DANGER OF FAMILY COUNSELLING, MEDIATION, ARBITRATION AND RECONCILIATION

Because of the nature of forced marriage and honour-based violence, some of your agency's standard procedures may inadvertently place those facing forced marriage at greater risk of harm. This includes attempting to resolve cases through family counselling, mediation, arbitration and reconciliation.



You should not actively initiate, encourage or facilitate such approaches because:

- Some women have been murdered by their families during mediation
- Women may be placed at risk of further emotional and physical abuse
- Perpetrators may use subtle and exclusive methods of communication, including non-verbal ones, which are not discernible to you or you do not understand their particular implications for the woman
- Women's safety is compromised in any process which means they have to negotiate their safety or discuss their feelings in the presence of their abuser and the outcome will not be to their benefit. They may feel pressurised to deny or minimise abuse or their concerns. More importantly, out of fear for the consequences if they do not, women frequently reach 'agreements' which are not in their best interests

Family group conferences are not appropriate in cases of forced marriage because these can place a child or young person at greater risk of harm (see page 102).

#### MEETINGS WITH THE FAMILY PRESENT

If a woman insists on meeting with her family, this should take place in a safe location, supervised by a trained/specialist professional, with the possible presence of a police officer. An authorised accredited interpreter should be present, as families sometimes threaten the victim verbally and practitioners need to understand what is being said.

If a woman has left the family home, unsupervised contact with her family may be extremely dangerous and she should be advised against this. Families may subject her to extreme physical or mental abuse, abduct her or take her overseas, regardless of any protective measures in place.

#### MISSING PERSONS AND THOSE WHO RUN AWAY

A missing person is anyone whose whereabouts are unknown, whatever the circumstances of the disappearance. An individual is considered a missing person until they are located or their wellbeing otherwise established. Anyone can be reported to the police as a missing person. You might make such a report as a practitioner if you are concerned about someone. Families who are trying to track down a victim might also contact the police.

Every report of a missing person must be met with a risk assessment and responded to in a coordinated manner by all agencies with a view to meeting the needs of the missing person and their family/carers, those close to the missing person, as well as the wider community (but within the context of ensuring the safety of a potential victim). The investigation into a missing person begins at the point of first notification to the police. This may be the first report of a serious crime or indicator of significant harm to a person. It is essential that all reasonable steps are taken to assess the level of risk and to determine the appropriate course of action and speed of response.

In the case of a 'missing person' or young person who runs away, your first concern should be for their welfare and safety.

Informing the family about their location or returning the victim to the family may place them at risk of significant harm. Some families have killed victims in these circumstances. Some families go to considerable lengths to find the victim. Do not give out any information unless you are absolutely sure that the request is genuine. Always check such requests with an experienced colleague/manager.

For further information about young people who run away refer to the National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>22</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> ibid

#### **REMEMBER**

- Those fleeing a forced marriage which has not yet taken place may be reported as missing by their families. The forced marriage aspect may not be obvious
- If the family locates the victim, try to speak to the victim on their own to establish why they left home, the circumstances of their return and what they want to do
- o If police locate a young person under 16, social work or the police should interview them before any consideration is given to returning them home, to establish whether it is in their best interests and safe for them to return (see the National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>23</sup>
- A local authority can provide accommodation under homelessness law for young people aged 16 and over who are at risk of abuse
- A young person under 16 who is at risk in the family home may be assessed as needing emergency accommodation under the Children (Scotland) Act 1995<sup>24</sup> (sections 22 and 38)
- Those fleeing a forced marriage, or the threat of one, may need to be accommodated outside the immediate area by a different local authority



#### DO NOT:

- Disclose information without the express consent of the woman unless the disclosure is to other agencies and is necessary to protect her or dependants from immediate harm
- Tell anyone where the woman is, do not even refer to the general area

#### **KEEPING RECORDS**

It is important to keep accurate records. Apart from being necessary as part of your organisation's internal procedures or legal requirements, these are useful and may be used as evidence of domestic abuse in civil and criminal court proceedings, immigration cases or applications for Forced Marriage Protection Orders.

You should record in detail what the woman said and what you discussed. Even if she does not disclose forced marriage, a record of your assessment which led to your suspicion may be useful in the future.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> ibid

www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents

Record referrals to others within your organisation or other organisations; who is involved; agreed actions; and update arrangements.

All such records should be kept secure to prevent unauthorised access.

They should only be available to those directly dealing with the case.

There are issues with access to records, especially for health and education relating to access to a child's record by a legitimate parent/recognised extended family carer. It is possible to withhold any parts of the record dealing with sensitive personal data, or if disclosing the information would be likely to cause significant distress or harm to (for example the pupil or patient) or any other person.

As a general principle, therefore, references to suspicions of forced marriage should be kept separate and very clearly highlighted in any records so they can be removed to eliminate any possibility of this being shared.

Such material could be double sealed within a case file with further restricted access. Records should:

- Be accurate, detailed, clear and dated
- Use the person's own words in quotation marks
- Document any injuries include photographs, body maps or pictures
- Be available only to those directly involved in the case



#### **REMEMBER:**

Some people who have fled a forced marriage have been traced through their medical or benefit records. When someone moves to a different area, make sure that there are systems to prevent their medical records being traced to another GP practice or benefit office.

## 6. SAFETY PLANNING

Safety planning is important for all women threatened with or in a forced marriage. It can help to reduce harm whether they stay, leave in a planned way or escape in an emergency.

Research shows that leaving home is the most dangerous time for women experiencing domestic abuse, so too for those fleeing a forced marriage.

Consider referring women, with consent, to Women's Aid or other domestic abuse specialist for help with safety planning.

When discussing safety planning, remember that a woman will know what is likely to work best in her circumstances. If you involve her, the plan is likely to be more intuitive and, therefore, more effective.

Things to consider when safety planning:

#### **GENERAL**

- The risk to the woman and any dependants
- The risk to anybody (friends or family) who helps her
- Whether the woman wants to involve the police
- Money can she open a bank or savings account in her name (but think about where any paperwork would be kept or sent); can she leave spare cash with a trusted friend?
- Papers where can she leave copies (or serial numbers) of important documents such as her own and her children's passports, birth certificates, information on her own and/or her children's medication, National Insurance number (for example with Women's Aid, police, or a trusted friend)
- Clothes, prescription medicines as above
- Helpline numbers tell her about helplines (discuss with her how she might disguise the numbers or help her memorise them)
- Telephone card or mobile in credit so she can phone for assistance (remind her she can dial 999 if she or any children are in immediate danger)
- Safe emergency accommodation where can she go if necessary? Remember that standard local authority accommodation might feel frightening without additional immediate support for language or cultural differences and so you should try to address these needs too

# IF SHE IS STAYING WITH THE PERPETRATOR(S)

#### Discuss the following:

- Where in the house she might go if she sees/senses trouble brewing. For example, avoiding rooms with no exits or rooms with potential weapons (kitchen). If she is able to barricade herself into a room, would she have a phone to ring for help?
- Where the nearest phone is
- Who can offer immediate help. Can she memorise numbers? Is there is a trusted friend who could keep phone numbers for her?
- Tell her about the 24-hour National Domestic Abuse Helpline number: 0800 027 1234. Stress that she should phone 999 if she or her children are in imminent danger. She can phone 999 even if her mobile is out of credit
- If the woman has language barrier, rehearse simple sentence or words that will alert the person on the receiving end to get help to the woman, for example: 'help', 'in danger' or (maybe) her address
- Think about transport (nearest bus stop, which bus number, train) and having enough money put aside for fares, a taxi or petrol
- Leaving some essential items with a trusted friend, if she can, such as a change of clothes, keys and emergency money
- Leaving her passport or copy of this and other important documents with a trusted friend could also be useful - or even just the serial numbers
- If she attends a GP or A&E for treatment as a result of abuse, encourage her to tell them what happened if it is safe to do so, and to make sure this is recorded
- Establishing a 'code word' that she can use with friends or other supportive people that would let them know to call for help, and encouraging her to have thought about what she would like them to do in this event

# STRATEGIES FOR WOMEN WHO ARE PLANNING TO LEAVE

#### Discuss the following:

- Leaving when the perpetrator/s is/are not around
- Keeping some money in a safe place for emergency transport
- Keeping essential documents in a place where they can be retrieved in a hurry (these might include address book, passport, birth certificate, national insurance number) – or even just the serial numbers
- Keeping some clothes ready to take in a hurry
- Remembering important medicines

- Leaving with all children she intends to go with her. If she leaves anyone behind it can be harder, or impossible, to get them at a later date
- How she can safely remove her children from the home/school or collect them
- Getting out of any taxi before her final destination (in case the driver passes on information)
- Contacting Women's Aid for information and support especially about safe refuge before she leaves
- How to keep plans secret this is one of the most dangerous times for women with the likelihood of perpetrators severely assaulting/murdering her and any children

#### **PERSONAL POSSESSIONS**

Whilst it is good to have the following items, they are not as important as someone's safety:

- Proof of identity (something with a photograph and signature e.g. passport,
   ID card, photo-card driving licence or National Insurance number/card)
- Benefit books, money, cheque books, bank and credit cards
- Medication and medical card
- Address book, photographs, jewellery and clothing
- Marriage/divorce papers
- Documents relating to immigration status

#### RETURNING HOME FOR PERSONAL POSSESSIONS

If a woman wants to return to the family home to retrieve her possessions, practitioners should:

- Help her plan for this in order to make sure that she is safe and protected.
   This should be done in the context of risk management and safety planning.
   She should not go unless a risk assessment has been carried out and there is a structured safety plan; her children should not accompany her if she goes
- Perform a risk assessment before any visit to the family home
- Advise her that returning may compromise her safety
- Arrange for someone (for example the police) to accompany her if she insists on returning to the family home to collect possessions but, as above, this should be done within a structured safety plan
- Ensure that an accredited interpreter is also present, in case the family makes threats

#### **ONGOING SAFETY**

#### Practitioners should:

- Take precautions to ensure that the woman's identity, benefit and other records are kept confidential
- Encourage the woman to change her bank account details and mobile phone so she cannot be traced. Some women also change their name. The law in Scotland allows anyone who wishes to change their forename or surname to do so without having to go through any formal process or registration of the new name. The woman simply starts using her chosen new forename and/ or surname. The name does not have to be connected in any way to either a person's original name or those of family members
- Note that registering a change of name with the local Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages will leave a record of the new name through which the woman could then be traced. In these circumstances, if the woman requires a formal confirmation of her name change, it would be safer to have a local solicitor Notary Public sign a declaration for her. More information about getting a new name onto documents is available from the local Registrar or the National Records of Scotland (www.gro-scotland.gov.uk/regscot/change-of-name.html)
- Arrange for safety measures such as an alarm and mobile phone
- Note that women may be traced through smart phones (people can see where they are when they connect to the internet)
- Remind women that they may be traced through social networking e.g.
   Facebook or using a webcam
- Refer the woman, with consent, to a support agency such as Women's Aid
- Ask her if she wants anyone to be told that they are safe and well. If so, who? What information does she want given out? This may be best by telephone (and perhaps through an interpreter), and not written format (to minimise traceability). But be cautious when giving information to other parties as sometimes a woman herself has no comprehension of the risk from others

Many women who remain in contact with their families once they have left home continue to be subjected to emotional pressure. This may include misinformation about illness or death of parents, relatives or siblings. Make the woman aware of this and take steps to check the validity of information if she wishes.

Sometimes families use organised networks to track the woman if she leaves. These include family and community members, bounty hunters, taxi drivers and anyone who can get hold of records such as staff from benefits offices, GP surgeries and housing departments. Staff may unwittingly give confidential information to those searching for the victim, so ensure that a woman's and/or her children's files are marked as restricted access/confidential or whatever is the appropriate procedure in such situations.

# 7. CHECKLIST: ACTIONS TO TAKE IN ALL CASES

Forced marriage involves complex and sensitive issues which should be handled by a child protection, adult support and protection, or domestic abuse specialist with expertise in forced marriage.

The statutory guidance<sup>25</sup> on forced marriage states that all organisations should have:

- 'A lead person responsible for the issue of forced marriage. This is likely to be the person with overall responsibility for protecting children, adults at risk or victims of domestic abuse'
- 'Policies and procedures in place to protect those facing forced marriage.
   The policies and procedures should be in line with existing statutory and non-statutory guidance on protecting children, adults at risk and victims of domestic abuse'

Although frontline staff should contact the lead worker as soon as possible, you may need to gather some information from the person to establish the facts and assist the referral.

Your approach should be consistent with your own agency's policies and practices whilst taking into account the particular circumstances of forced marriage.

#### **ONE CHANCE IMMEDIATE ACTIONS**

See the woman immediately in a secure and private place where you will not be overheard (see page 35) - she may not wish to speak to a male member of staff initially and that this could result in her appearing reluctant to speak about the matter
See her on her own - even if she is accompanied by others
Reassure her about confidentiality (consistent with your organisation's confidentiality policy) and make it clear that you will not divulge information to her family/friends/community
Accept what she says
Explain all the options to her (see page 37) and possible outcomes
Recognise and respect her wishes
Perform an appropriate and thorough risk assessment (see page 36)
Contact, as soon as possible, the lead worker responsible for forced marriage
If she is under 16, refer to child protection inter-agency guidance

<sup>25</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/ForcedMarriageStatutory

		s an adult at risk discuss with your adult support and protection lead er to inter-agency guidance
		way to contact her safely (e.g. agree a code word) (see page 36)
	Obtain	full details to pass on to the lead worker securely and in accordance our organisation's information management policy for sensitive
		er (or help her memorise) your contact details and/or those of a t agency such as Women's Aid
	Conside family	er the need for immediate protection and placement away from the
	involve	rything you can to keep her and any children safe. This may having to contact the school to take the children out of class early, larly if they are collected by a relative
	Get imr	nediate advice if you are not sure what to do
	DO	NOT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES:
-	0	Send her away or let her leave without a safety plan and follow up arrangements
	0	Approach her friends/family or community unless she asks you to do so (but even if she asks you, you should assess the friend/family/community member's credibility and potential risk)
	0	Approach community leaders for advice
	0	Share information with anyone without her express consent (unless there is a risk of immediate harm or she lacks capacity to give consent or she is unable to give informed consent) (see page 39)
	0	Attempt to mediate with family or any member of the community (see page 44)
01	THER A	ACTIONS
Ш	origin)	e woman, if possible, a choice about who they see (gender/ethnic
	Tell her	about her rights to legal advice and representation (page 68)
	If neces	ssary, record any injuries and arrange a medical examination (page 43)
	Discuss	personal safety (page 48) and create a plan she thinks is workable
	Prepare	e an excuse/reason for her being with you in case someone sees her

☐ Establish if there is a family history of forced marriage, e.g. siblings forced to marry. Other indicators may include domestic abuse, self-harm, family

disputes, unreasonable restrictions (e.g. withdrawal from education or 'house arrest') or missing persons within the family
Advise her not to travel overseas. Discuss the difficulties she may face (page 28)
Tell her that if she does have to travel, to use her British passport if she has dual nationality, and to give someone she trusts as many details as possible about her journey plans (and photocopies of passport and birth certificate if possible)
Identify any potential criminal offences against her and refer to the police if appropriate
Give her advice on what service/support she and any children should expect and from whom
Ensure that she has the contact details for the lead worker/agency
Keep a full record of decisions made and reasons
Ensure any record is strictly confidential and, preferably, only available to named members of staff
Consider making an application for a Forced Marriage Protection Order (FMPO) or other protective order (see page 62)
Refer her, with consent, to support groups such as Women's Aid (see pages 126-127)
Reassure her that whatever she decides to do, she can come back to you at any time for assistance



#### **REMEMBER:**

If the person is lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (LGBT), refer to appropriate support groups (see page 128).

British Embassies and High Commissions can only help British nationals or, in certain circumstances EU or Commonwealth nationals. This means that if a non-British national leaves the UK to be forced into marriage overseas, the British Embassy or High Commission cannot assist them.

Contact the FMU if you know or suspect that a victim has been, or is being taken out of Scotland or abroad. In certain circumstances, it may be possible for them to alert the police and authorities at points of departure so that the victim and those accompanying them can be detained and prevented from leaving the UK.

If in doubt, ask the Forced Marriage Unit for advice (see page 10).

# 8. CHECKLIST: INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR ALL CASES

Ideally, information should be gathered by a police officer or lead officer for forced marriage. However, in an emergency (for example if a victim is going overseas imminently), any practitioner may have to gather as much information as possible from the victim.



You may not be able to get all of the information listed below. Try to get as much relevant information as possible and remember that the priority should always be the safety of the victim.

All information should be stored in accordance with child protection and adult support and protection policies and procedures and consistent with record management procedures.

If the report is made by a third party, record their name, contact details and stated relationship to the woman.

See also good practice in information sharing (page 39) and storing (page 46).

#### **INFORMATION TO GATHER**

Date of report
Name of person under threat
Nationality
Age
Date and place of birth
Legal status: marital, immigration
Passport details
School details
Employment details
Full details of the allegation
Name and address of parents or those with parental responsibility
National Insurance number
Driving licence number
Names of friends and family who can be trusted and their contact details
Names and ages of the woman's children, if any, and passport details (do they
have their own or are they on their parents')
Background information including schools attended (children), involvement with adult or child protection, GP or other health services
Full details of the allegation
Names and addresses of fiancé, spouse, parents

	Details of any threats, abuse or other hostile action against the person
	A recent photograph and any other identifying documents
	Note of any distinguishing features such as birthmarks and tattoos
	Establish the nature and level of risk to the safety (for example is she pregnant? Does she have a secret boyfriend or girlfriend? Is she already secretly married?)
	Establish if there are any other family members at risk of forced marriage or if there is a family history of forced marriage and abuse
	Any significant medical issues to be taken account of or additional needs
AC	GREE
	Code word to ensure you are speaking to the right person if you phone How to contact them safely
IF	THE WOMAN IS GOING OVERSEAS IMMINENTLY
	the woman fears she will be forced into marriage, you should gather as much the following information as possible in order to locate her:  Her full name and date of birth
	A photocopy of her passport. Encourage her to note down her passport number and the place and date of issue. She may have two passports so try to find out which one she is travelling on. Depending on her age, she may be listed on her parents' foreign passport
	Her father's name
	Intended destination and any addresses where she may be staying overseas When she is leaving and how (plane, train, car, ferry ports)
	Potential spouse's name (if known)
	The name of the potential spouse's father
	Date of the proposed wedding
	Names, addresses/phone numbers of extended family in the UK and overseas who may be directly or indirectly involved in helping the family with the forced marriage
	Information that only she is likely to know (to assist potential Embassy/British High Commission interview in case another person is produced pretending to be them)
	Details of any travel plans and people likely to accompany her
	Names and addresses of any close relatives remaining in the UK

	A safe means to contact her e.g. a secret mobile telephone which will work overseas. Record the number
	Details of any supportive third party whom the woman might contact whilst overseas or on her return
	An estimated return date. Ask her to contact you on return
	A written statement (in English or certified translation) from her explaining that she wants the police or others to act on her behalf if she does not return by a certain date
	Flight details, there and back
	Details of where she thinks she will be staying even if it is only the general area
GI	VE THE WOMAN:
	Details of the nearest Embassy/British High Commission (can she memorise the number?)
	the number?)
	the number?) The phone number of the Forced Marriage Unit (can she memorise it?) Information about the implications of dual nationality (see page 74) (note:

#### **REMEMBER:**

If the family is approached, they may deny that the woman is being forced to marry, move her elsewhere, expedite any travel arrangements and bring forward the forced marriage.

British Embassies and High Commissions can only help British nationals or, in certain circumstances EU or Commonwealth nationals. This means that if a non-British national leaves the UK to be forced into marriage overseas, the British Embassy or High Commission will not be able to assist them.

If they are not a British national, contact or advise the woman to contact the Forced Marriage Unit (page 10). The FMU can provide details of reliable non-governmental organisations overseas and the details of the embassy of their own nationality.

# SECTION 3

# LEGAL CONTEXT AND REMEDIES

In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child should be a primary consideration.

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 3.1

- 9. The Forced Marriage Act and how it works
  - Summary of provisions
  - Forced Marriage Protection Orders
  - Third party applications for Forced Marriage Protection Orders
- **10.** Options for protection under the law: criminal law, adult and child protection
- **11.** Options for protection under the law: other civil remedies
- **12.** Forced marriage and immigration and nationality issues

# 9. THE FORCED MARRIAGE ACT AND HOW IT WORKS

#### **SUMMARY**

The main provisions of the Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction) (Scotland) Act 2011<sup>26</sup> are:

- To protect people from being forced to marry without their free and full consent
- To protect those who have already been forced into marriage without consent
- To clarify the authority of the Sheriff court for annulling (declaring invalid) such marriages
- To introduce Forced Marriage Protection Orders (FMPO) to protect people from being forced to marry or who have already been so
- To allow the following categories of person to apply for a FMPO:
  - » The victim
  - » Anyone on behalf of a victim, as long as they obtain the court's permission to make an application
  - » A 'relevant third party', who can apply on behalf of a victim but does not need to seek leave of the court
- To allow the court itself to make a FMPO as part of other civil proceedings or, in criminal proceedings, to refer matters to the Lord Advocate.
- To make it a criminal offence to breach a FMPO
- To enable Scottish Ministers to apply the provisions of part one of the Act to civil partnerships
- To require statutory agencies to respond appropriately

#### **Definition of 'force'**

Under the Act. to 'force' someone into marriage includes:

- Using physical, verbal or psychological means, threatening conduct, harassment. This could include isolating them and not allowing them to see friends or go to school/college
- Knowingly taking advantage of a person's incapacity to consent to or understand marriage in general or the implications for them of a particular marriage. This could be, for example, an adult at risk or a child under 16

The conduct which forces a person to marry does not have to be directed against them. For example, if the perpetrator threatens to commit suicide, this would be seen by the court as force.

The Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction)(Scotland) Act 2011: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/15/contents

#### **HOW THE ACT WORKS**

#### FORCED MARRIAGE PROTECTION ORDERS - WHAT THEY DO

FMPOs are designed to prevent a forced marriage from occurring or to offer protective measures when a forced marriage has taken place. The court's powers are quite wide and it can tailor the terms of the order according to the specific needs of the victim. Orders may contain prohibitions, restrictions or requirements as the court thinks appropriate to stop or change the conduct of those who would force the victim into marriage.

Examples of the types of conditions that might be specified by an order the court might make are:

- To stop the protected person from going through the marriage ceremony
- To hand over to the court documents such as passports, birth certificates and travel documents
- To stop violent, threatening and intimidating conduct
- To disclose the whereabouts of a victim
- To stop someone from being taken to or from a specific place in Scotland or the UK, or taken abroad
- To facilitate or enable a person to return to Scotland within a specified period
- That the protected person must be taken to a place of safety designated in the order, or that the protected person be brought to a court at such time and place as the court specifies

Orders may also be made against other people, not named as respondents in the application. These can be third parties who are not directly involved but are aiding, abetting, counselling, procuring, encouraging or assisting another person to force, or to attempt to force, a person to enter into a marriage. This is to take account of the complexity of the issues, and because forced marriage can involve the wider community and many different people.

The court can also make an interim order if necessary.

A FMPO lasts as long as required. The court can order that the FMPO remains in force for a specified period of time, or no time limit can be set. If the FMPO is not time-limited, it will remain in force until the court recalls it.

## **Applying for a FMPO**

The victim (the Act uses the term 'protected persons') or a third party (for example a local authority) can apply to the civil court for a FMPO.

It is possible to apply to the court for an interim order to provide immediate protection before the full order is made.

In certain circumstances, a civil court can also make a FMPO on its own initiative, without the victim or anyone else making a specific application to it. In criminal cases the court can refer the case to the Lord Advocate who can apply for a Forced Marriage Protection Order on behalf of the victim. This can happen if the victim is involved in another civil action (for instance, may be applying for a protective civil order) and the court considers that the circumstances of the matter are such that a FMPO should be made. If, in criminal proceedings, a court considers that an FMPO should be made (for instance, where trial evidence reveals that a person may be at risk of being forced into a marriage) it may refer the matter to the Lord Advocate, who may apply for an FMPO or take such other steps as are considered appropriate.

# THIRD PARTY APPLICATIONS FOR A FORCED MARRIAGE PROTECTION ORDER

Victims of forced marriage may be reluctant to take legal action to protect themselves for fear of criminalising those involved, potential repercussions, including threats to their physical safety or child abduction, alienation of family and community and the stigma attached in involving their family and community. They may also not be in a position to take legal action on their own behalf.

The Act, therefore, allows people other than the victim to apply for a FMPO. This is known as a third party application.

Third parties who are particularly specified as 'Relevant Third Parties' (RTP) under the Act can apply without leave (permission) of the court. RTPs are local authorities, the Lord Advocate and any other person specified by Scottish Ministers.

Anyone else can apply for a FMPO but they need to get leave of the court to apply. This is so that the court can assure itself that any third party is acting in the best interests of the victim.

Those working in child protection and with adults at risk of harm are most likely to come across cases of forced marriage and, therefore, need to consider the potential for a FMPO alongside existing measures of protection in order to discharge their statutory duties.

For all practitioners, this includes whether or not to apply for an order at all given concerns such as a victim's desire to remain anonymous and the risks to her involved in proceeding with an application for an order. Seeking a FMPO (e.g. when the person is overseas) may alert the family. You should consider whether this might place the person at greater risk of harm.

#### Making an application

Applications for a FMPO made by a local authority should be made via its legal department, in close liaison with the relevant frontline practitioner. Caseworkers

and social workers should not try to pursue an application themselves. See the Scottish Courts website.<sup>27</sup>

It is possible, in an emergency, to make an application in the absence of the victim. This would be an 'interim forced marriage protection order'. This may be necessary if the victim is in immediate danger or at risk of being taken abroad.

Where an FMPO (rather than an interim FMPO) application goes to proof, the court makes its decision on the civil burden of proof, on the balance of probability. Such applications may be supported by affidavit (a sworn statement witnessed by a Notary Public). However, most applications are likely to be made on an interim basis without a full proof, but even for these interim applications, affidavits may be helpful.

A FMPO can be sought in other proceedings, for example applications for protective orders or actions under the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007<sup>28</sup>, the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003<sup>29</sup> and Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000<sup>30</sup>.

If the victim decides to retract, every effort should be made to ensure that she is withdrawing of her own free will and is not being coerced. But remember, your legal obligation to act in situations where a child or adult is at risk of harm may still require you to attempt to secure this through the proper procedures.

It is important to consider how any retraction might affect the victim's safety and what other safety measures may be required (see page 48).

#### Court locations

Applications should be made to the Sheriff Court in whose sheriffdom the victim normally lives. If the victim does not ordinarily live in Scotland, the application should be made to the sheriff of Lothian and Borders in Edinburgh.

For more on court locations see www.scotcourts.gov.uk

Factors affecting a decision on which court is best placed to hear an application for a FMPO are likely to include whether the victim wants to remain anonymous, the risks involved if the victim proceeds with an application for a protection order and if they remain in the area, and the proximity to the court location and local facilities, including support networks.

See note on page 72 for women moving between different sheriffdoms.

<sup>27</sup> Scottish Courts website: www.scotcourts.gov.uk

Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003: **www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/13/contents** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents

## Special measures

'Special measures' refer to physical protections and procedures that the court can order to be put in place in civil or criminal court proceedings, to support witnesses to give their best evidence when they are concerned about going to court and facing their partner, family, and so on. Being able to give their best evidence can make a difference to the outcome of a case.

The use of special measures should always be considered in any case where you are supporting a victim of forced marriage, not just in applications for a FMPO.

Examples of special measures are sitting behind a screen in the court room; having a supporter; giving evidence remotely or in private. It is up to the judge to decide whether or not to approve special measures and, if so, which ones.

It is important to tell the victim about special measures and discuss them with her as soon as possible. You should always fully consider whether there is a need for any special measures if the victim is going to attend civil or criminal court hearings and the victim's views and wishes on the matter. Avoid making superficial judgements on a victim's 'capability' based on your own observations. Remember that these provisions are there to assist victims to give their own evidence and they can request them.

In a civil case, the obligation to make the relevant application lies with the party responsible for bringing or defending the action, in this case either the victim, relevant third party or others. In the criminal court, the responsibility lies with the Procurator Fiscal, Lord Advocate or the defence if the witness is a defence witness.

Guidance on special measures for vulnerable adult and child witnesses is at: **www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2005/06/03104253/42568** 

You may also need to make other arrangements to help the victim such as visiting the court in advance to familiarise themselves with it and where they would sit. Some courts are able to arrange for the victim to enter and leave court through separate doors and have separate toilets available from those which the perpetrator(s) and general public would use. Most waiting areas are communal and could provide an opportunity for perpetrators to intimidate and pressure the victim. Courts may be able to arrange for the victim to wait in another room.

The Procurator Fiscal will tell the victim if special measures have been granted in a criminal case or a case in which the Lord Advocate has applied to the court for an order. If a victim is concerned about intimidation at court, she should discuss these with either the Victims Information and Advice (VIA) section of the Procurator Fiscal's office or Victim Support Scotland (see page 128).

#### Interpreters

The Scottish Court Service will provide an interpreter if the party/parties involved do not speak English as their first language. This is irrespective of whether solicitors are involved or public funding is available. An interpreter will generally be available for the applicant, respondent(s), and the victim if they are not an applicant but giving evidence as a witness. You should contact the relevant court to make the necessary arrangements. Family members must not be used to interpret (see page 35). If it is a criminal case and the victim is to be called as a Crown witness, the responsibility for arranging an interpreter lies with the Procurator Fiscal.

#### After a FMPO is issued

After the court has issued a FMPO or an interim FMPO, all practitioners should work closely with the victim, the police and any other support services to ensure it offers the level of protection envisaged and that ongoing support is available to victims as needed. The court can order that the FMPO remains in force for a specified period of time, or no time can be set. If the FMPO is not time-limited, it will remain in force until the court recalls it.

The applicant (the protected person, relevant third party or other party), and any other person affected by the FMPO, including those subject to its prohibitions and conditions, can go back to the court at any time to seek a variation of the conditions, or to have it recalled entirely. Therefore, your procedures must be such that court or any other papers relating to the FMPO should be dealt with immediately.

Similarly, the protected person should be made aware of this matter. They should be advised to contact their solicitor, their party applicant (if any) and the practitioner as soon as possible if they suspect that such an application will be made, or if they receive any papers whatsoever relating to their FMPO, particularly if they relate to revocation or variation of the FMPO.

#### **Breach of FMPO**

Breach of a FMPO is a criminal offence and punishable by imprisonment for up to two years, and/or a fine of up to £10,000.

The police may arrest without warrant any person whom they reasonably believe is committing or has committed a breach of a FMPO (not just a person named on the order).

The relevant third party or the victim should report the breach to the police in the first instance as this means it will be dealt with quickly and will be safer for the victim. If relevant, they should also contact the solicitor to go back to the court to report the breach. However, any person including, for example, a friend or relative of the protected person (even if not directly affected by the order) or a practitioner could report a breach of a FMPO to the police for investigation.

#### Fit with other legal remedies

An application for a FMPO is not an alternative to the work of the police and Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service (COPFS) in investigating and prosecuting crimes. Crimes may be investigated and offenders prosecuted at the same time as an application for a FMPO is made or an order is in force. Although there is no specific criminal offence in Scotland of 'forcing someone to marry', criminal offences may, nevertheless, be committed. Perpetrators – usually parents or family members (but could also include members of the wider community) – could be prosecuted for offences including breach of the peace, threatening behaviour, assault, abduction, theft (of passports), unlawful imprisonment and murder (see also page 69).

Local authorities should refer to the statutory guidance and these guidelines as soon as they are alerted to a potential case of forced marriage. Practitioners may only have one chance (see page 1) to speak to a potential victim of forced marriage and the opportunity to take effective action may be limited, particularly if there is the threat of removal from the country. If children are involved, you may be able to use child protection procedures. See page 48 for information about ensuring safety of victims.

You should speak to your legal department so they are fully aware and can advise you about the types of legal remedies that might be available to support a victim from this early stage.

A FMPO may be appropriate alongside other remedies. In some cases, for example, where the forced marriage has not yet taken place, it may be more appropriate to seek another civil order or involve the police if there is a danger to the victim's physical safety and criminal behaviour is taking place. Assessing the level of risk to the victim is essential in deciding which option to pursue. Information about other legal remedies available is on page 68.

You should consider referring a victim to a solicitor for other assistance/ protective measures under civil law. Ideally, this should be an experienced Family Law solicitor and/or a solicitor versed in immigration rights. The Family Law Association of Scotland (www.familylawassociation.org) and the Law Society of Scotland (www.lawscot.org.uk) can help with this.

#### **ENDING A FORCED MARRIAGE**

Depending on the circumstances of the marriage, a forced marriage may be legally valid until the court makes an order for divorce or grants a declarator of nullity. In other cases, a marriage may never have been legally valid but a party

to the purported marriage may wish to seek a declarator of nullity to put the position beyond doubt and to show that the marriage never existed. There are strict legal requirements which govern whether a marriage is valid under Scots law. The rules for recognising a marriage vary depending on the country in which the marriage took place. When considering the validity of a marriage, particularly a marriage which took place overseas, you should seek specialist legal advice.

#### PARTNERSHIP WORKING TO PROTECT VICTIMS

The Scottish Government strongly promotes a multi-agency response as the most effective way to tackle domestic abuse. This approach is clearly transferrable to forced marriage cases which require the same level of inter-agency co-operation and information sharing to protect individuals and respond in a timely and effective way.

Close liaison with other departments and agencies is vital as cases progress through the courts and also following the issuing of a FMPO, when contact with the victim needs to be maintained not just to monitor their welfare but also to ensure the order remains effective.

The statutory guidance **www.scotland.gov.uk/ForcedMarriageStatutory** requires that local authorities forge links with local schools, health services, the police and the voluntary sector to agree an appropriate local system for referrals, support and response. This includes close liaison with partners to agree which agency will act on an FMPO application in specific circumstances. Local areas have been asked to agree with partners the best referral routes for cases and steps should have been taken to ensure that information sharing and referral protocols within and across agencies are agreed and implemented as soon as possible. Such protocols should ensure that the steps that are taken do not put the victim at further risk or escalate the situation.

Practitioners need to work consistently with their internal/organisation information sharing and referral protocols on forced marriage. You also need to take account of the networks within extended families and communities as well as the speed at which information may spread through these.

Family/community members may work in your agency and, therefore, be party to information about a referral/application. If they use their position as an employee to gain information, this would be, at least, a breach of organisational conduct, and also possibly a professional breach which should be reported to their professional body. It may also be a breach of data protection legislation and, therefore, a criminal offence.

You could be put under enormous pressure to divulge information and face conflict with professional duties compromised by very strong community ties.

# 10. OPTIONS FOR PROTECTION UNDER THE LAW: CRIMINAL LAW, ADULT AND CHILD PROTECTION

Everyone has the right to live without fear and abuse and to protection from crime.

It is open to anyone to contact the police if they or their children are in any danger. A third party can also contact the police if they are concerned for someone's safety.

There are various other options under Scottish criminal and civil law which can protect people threatened with or in a forced marriage. Some require the police or local authority to take action whilst others require the victim to apply to the court.

The relevance of the options below vary according to where the marriage took place; where the victim is; the circumstances of the victim, including their age, immigration status and so on. The information will give you an indication of the different possibilities for protecting someone who is already in or at risk of a forced marriage but you should seek further information about the detail.

Legal aid<sup>31</sup> may be available. Funding for legal advice is not counted as public funds, and individuals may be entitled to free legal advice whatever their immigration status.

It is important to emphasise to victims that the law, on its own, cannot be relied on to keep them safe because some perpetrators will disregard it. Victims have to use every way they can to stay safe. This includes having a safety plan (see page 48).

For civil procedures, it is important to get legal advice as early as possible, preferably from an experienced family law solicitor. See **www.lawscot.org.uk** and **www.familylawassociation.org/index.asp** 

For further information about domestic abuse and the law see **www.scottishwomensaid.org.uk** and also *Domestic Abuse: your rights and the law,* Scottish Women's Aid.

Legal aid allows people who would not otherwise be able to afford it to get help for their legal problems. It can provide funding to help people who qualify to get legal advice and 'representation'. More information on legal aid is available from the Scottish Legal Aid Board: www.slab.org.uk

#### **CRIMINAL LAW**

Although there is no specific criminal offence in Scotland of 'forcing someone to marry', criminal offences may, nevertheless, be committed. Perpetrators – usually parents or family members – could be prosecuted for offences including assault, plagium (theft of a child), theft (of passport), extortion, abduction and murder. Sexual intercourse without consent is rape<sup>32</sup>, regardless of whether this occurs within a marriage. A woman who is forced into marriage is likely to be raped and may be raped until she becomes pregnant.

Aiding and abetting a criminal offence is also prosecutable.

The immigration legislation and rules also provide protection for adults, children and young people. The age of entry into the UK for spouses, fiancés, civil partners, unmarried or same sex partners is 18<sup>33</sup>, and assisting in an unlawful entry is a criminal offence.

There are specific offences to protect children and deal with criminal behaviour such as child abduction, cruelty to persons under 16 (including neglect and abandonment), failure to secure regular attendance at school of a registered pupil and physical punishment of children.

The Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009<sup>34</sup>, contains provisions which criminalise people engaging in sexual activity with children under the age of 16, whether the conduct is apparently consented to by the child or not. It is not a defence to these offences that the accused was married to the child.

#### ADULT PROTECTION

There is a range of protective measures under legislation including the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007<sup>35</sup>, Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000<sup>36</sup> and the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003<sup>37</sup> which can protect adults at risk. In certain circumstances, the police can intervene to protect adults at risk. See more on adult support and protection on page 109.

For more information on the definition of rape see Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/contents

Immigration rules were amended on 7 November 2011 to revert the minimum marriage visa age from 21 to 18 following a Supreme Court judgment. Those rules came into force on 28 November 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/contents

Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents

Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents

Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/13/contents

#### **CHILD PROTECTION**

For information about relevant Scottish legislation, terms and powers relating to child protection including emergency child protection measures and the Children's Hearings system, please see the Scottish Government's National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010) –

www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0 This document also has a section on honour-based violence and forced marriage.

Social work services may approach the police and ask for their assistance in undertaking a joint investigation. Social work services and police have a clear statutory role in deciding whether an investigation should take place. The way in which this is to be handled should be covered in the local inter-agency child protection procedures. A joint approach must always be considered if it is thought that a child or young person is at immediate risk of forced marriage.

In a joint investigation, key agencies such as social work services, the police and health services should plan and carry out their respective tasks in a co-ordinated way. This should not preclude any other agencies or individuals becoming involved. For example, education services or third sector support organisations may be involved in supporting a child throughout an investigation and adult services may be involved in identifying risk factors. Within a joint investigation, agencies will have, at times, different responsibilities to fulfil, but associated activities, including the designation of a place of safety, should be planned together.

# 11. OPTIONS FOR PROTECTION UNDER THE LAW: OTHER CIVIL REMEDIES

The courts in Scotland can grant civil orders to protect those threatened with, or already in, a forced marriage.

#### **GENERAL PROTECTIVE ORDERS**

The following civil remedies may offer some protection or assistance to an adult, young person or child who is being, or has been, forced into a marriage:

- A common law interdict<sup>38</sup> with power of arrest under the Protection from Abuse (Scotland) Act 2001 ('the 2001 Act')<sup>39</sup>
- An interdict or civil non-harassment order<sup>40</sup> under the Protection from Harassment Act 1997<sup>41</sup>
- A matrimonial interdict under the Matrimonial Homes (Family Protection) (Scotland) Act 1981<sup>42</sup> with power of arrest under 'the 2001 Act' (available within marriage, against the spouse only)
- A domestic interdict under the Matrimonial Homes (Family Protection) (Scotland) Act 1981 with power of arrest under 'the 2001 Act' (available only to couples who are or were living together)
- An exclusion order<sup>43</sup> under the Matrimonial Homes (Family Protection) (Scotland) Act 1981 (available within marriage, against the spouse only; and available to cohabitants in certain situations)
- A 'domestic abuse' interdict with a power of arrest under the Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2011<sup>44</sup> with a power of arrest under the 2001 Act. Breach of such an interdict is a criminal offence punishable by a fine or imprisonment or both
- A declarator of nullity of marriage (that the marriage is void meaning that it is considered legally never to have existed). This can be obtained in the Sheriff Court under the Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction) (Scotland) Act 2011<sup>45</sup>

An interdict is a court order which bans someone from doing something. For instance, it can ban someone from acting in a certain way or from being in a certain area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Protection from Abuse (Scotland) Act 2001: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2001/14/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> A non-harassment order bans a person from harassing another.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Protection from Harassment Act 1997 **www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/40/contents** 

Matrimonial Homes (Family Protection) (Scotland) Act 1981 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/59/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> An exclusion order suspends a person's right to live in a home.

Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2011: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/13/contents

Forced Marriage etc. (Protection and Jurisdiction)(Scotland) Act 2011: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/15/contents

- Divorce (ends the marriage under the law). A spouse can apply for a divorce
  if the marriage has 'broken down irretrievably'; this can be with or without
  the consent of the other spouse and using an ordinary or simple procedure;
  more information about divorce at www.familylawassociation.org
- Exclusion order after divorce under section 14(2)(d) of the Family Law (Scotland) Act 1985<sup>46</sup>

#### **HOMELESSNESS LEGISLATION**

The Housing (Scotland) Act 1987<sup>47</sup>, Housing (Scotland) Act 2001<sup>48</sup> and the Homelessness etc. (Scotland) Act 2003<sup>49</sup> outline local authority duties to those experiencing homelessness. The 2003 Act includes provisions for local authorities to phase out 'priority need' categories when assessing homeless applicants so that all unintentionally households will be entitled to settled accommodation by 2012. A statutory Code of Guidance for local authorities<sup>50</sup> was published in 2005, supplemented by Prevention of Homelessness Guidance in 2009<sup>51</sup>. They establish that that an individual has the right to live in safety and feel secure in their own home and that local authorities have a duty to assist and to provide temporary or permanent accommodation for those experiencing domestic abuse (see paragraph 7.2 in the Code of Guidance and 115 in the Prevention of Homelessness Guidance). Forced marriage is a form of domestic abuse.

#### PROTECTING CHILDREN

See also pages 71 and 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Family Law (Scotland) Act 1985: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Housing (Scotland) Act 1987: www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1987/26/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Housing (Scotland) Act 2001: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2001/10/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Homelessness etc. (Scotland) Act 2003: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/10/contents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2005/05/31133334/33366

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/06/08140713/14

# 12. FORCED MARRIAGE AND IMMIGRATION AND NATIONALITY ISSUES



Note that it is illegal to give immigration advice unless you are authorised to do so. If immigration advice is required you should refer to an authorised adviser.

The UK Border Agency and the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 126) can provide further detail on issues relevant to immigration, nationality and forced marriage.

#### **FORCED MARRIAGE AND VISAS**

If a woman has been forced to marry someone from overseas, the latter may want to apply for a spousal visa giving them official permission to enter, and join her in, the UK.

The age at which someone can sponsor or be sponsored as a spouse is 18<sup>52</sup>.

At first, a spouse will be granted permission to stay in the UK for a probationary period of two years. At the end of this time, if still married, the sponsoring spouse would normally apply for them to stay in the UK permanently. This is called indefinite leave to remain (ILR).

They will not be granted a spousal visa to come to the UK if the woman makes a disclosable statement saying that she does not support her spouse's application.

If the spouse is already in the UK and wants to be granted ILR, and this is against the woman's wishes, it may be possible to get the spousal visa revoked and the spouse may be asked to leave the country.

For more information see the UK Border Agency: www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk

# DOMESTIC ABUSE, IMMIGRATION AND 'NO RECOURSE TO PUBLIC FUNDS'

If a woman has come to the UK from overseas on a spousal or other temporary visa, such as a student study visa, she may not have indefinite leave to remain, exceptional leave to remain or a right of abode in the UK. Since she has no permission to remain in the UK permanently, she is, therefore, likely to be ineligible to obtain 'public funds', such as welfare benefit payments (income support, housing benefit) and access to temporary and permanent local authority accommodation. This has a direct impact on her ability to get accommodation and support, including refuge provision. (Note that this does not prevent her from applying for housing association accommodation as this does not come under the definition of public funds.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See footnote 33.

The Sojourner Project (see page 127) has run since December 2009 providing funding for housing essential living costs to help women across the UK who flee abusive partner/husband. The Sojourner Project is for women with no recourse to public funds, who entered the UK on a spousal or partner visa and who are eligible to apply for Indefinite Leave to Remain (ILR) under the Domestic Violence Immigration Rule (see page 133).

Sojourner Project funding is available until April 2012 when the UK Government proposes to replace this with short-term entitlement to welfare benefits when applying for ILR.

ILR applications require supporting evidence. You could help a woman to compile this. You can also help with women's applications under the above rule by providing evidence of domestic abuse (for example a GP could provide a medical report).

#### **DUAL NATIONALITY**

If a person is a British national and also holds the nationality of another country, they are considered to be a dual national. This may mean that, in the country of their other nationality, the authorities may view them as being solely or primarily nationals of that country and treat them accordingly. They may not recognise that the British Embassy or High Commission has any right to assist them or may not permit any assistance to be given. If the Foreign and Commonwealth Office considers that there is a special humanitarian reason to do so, it will consider offering assistance to dual nationals in the country of their other nationality. Forced marriage is one of those circumstances where such an exception may be made.

- Advise anyone facing forced marriage who holds dual nationality to travel under their British passport
- When asking a court to order the surrender of the passports of a person to prevent them from being taken abroad, ensure that this includes all passports if they are a dual national

If you have any queries about dual nationality contact the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10).



# SERVICE-SPECIFIC INFORMATION

A woman's right to choose a spouse and enter freely into marriage is central to her life and her dignity and equality as a human being.

Recommendation No.21, Comment Article 16 (1) (b), UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women

- 13. Guidelines for health workers
- 14. Guidelines for school, college and university staff
- **15.** Guidelines for police officers
- 16. Guidelines for children and families social workers
- 17. Guidelines for adult support and protection staff
- 18. Guidelines for local authority housing staff

#### 13. GUIDELINES FOR HEALTH WORKERS<sup>53</sup>

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

#### **CASE STUDY**

S came to the UK from Sudan following a forced marriage. When she arrived, she was prevented from leaving the house, discouraged from learning English and subjected to appalling abuse from her husband and extended family. One time after her husband had beaten her, she went to hospital and her husband went with her. Fortunately, the consultant she saw spoke her language. He asked the husband to leave but he refused. The consultant manufactured a reason for S to accompany him to another room to use a piece of equipment. He asked S if she was OK and she told him everything. In the middle of a busy clinic, he dropped everything, and phoned the police and social work. They collected her from the hospital and found her a place in a refuge. S believes the consultant saved her life.

#### **BACKGROUND**

Most women experiencing abuse will, at some point, use health services for themselves or their children.

As a health worker, therefore, you are in an ideal position to support women who are in, or are threatened with, a forced marriage. The weight of cultural expectations, fear of bringing dishonour to the family, along with the social ostracism, harassment and violence which may ensue make it very difficult for them to come forward. For example, women may present to:

- Accident and emergency (A&E) departments, Genito-Urinary Medicine (GUM) or sexual health clinics with injuries consistent with rape or sexual violence or physical injury
- Dental surgeries with facial injuries consistent with domestic abuse

Based on Harmful Traditional Practices: what health workers need to know about gender-based violence, NHS Scotland, 2009

- Mental health services, addictions services, school nurses, health visitors,
   GPs with issues such as depression; self-harm; anorexia; substance misuse or attempted suicide
- Maternity services and reproductive care as a result of forced pregnancy or miscarriage

#### **HEALTH CONSEQUENCES OF FORCED MARRIAGE**

The health consequences are considerable and can include physical, emotional and psychological harm, which can be chronic, acute and long-term. Isolation is common. Women may be removed from education or from their social circle, be forbidden to work, or prevented from going out alone. As a result, they may be depressed, anxious and may self-harm. Studies have shown a significantly higher level of self-harm in young Asian women, some of which is attributed to lack of self-determination and the weight of expectations surrounding the concept of honour and concerns about marriage. There are reports of women committing suicide. Substance misuse, eating disorders, early and unwanted pregnancies are also common.

#### **IDENTIFYING FORCED MARRIAGE**

Women may present to health professionals with many of the same problems evident in women experiencing domestic abuse. This includes unexplained injuries, chronic pain, mental health problems such as depression, anxiety, eating disorders, self-harm, difficulties in pregnancy and so on. Being aware of the indicators and understanding the dynamics of domestic abuse can help you identify possible cases of forced marriage.

The NHSScotland programme to implement routine enquiry<sup>54</sup> of abuse across mental health, maternity, addictions, A&E, community nursing and sexual and reproductive health services may make disclosures of abuse more frequent but may not reveal forced marriage unless you ask a woman about her family life and whether there are restrictions at home. For example, asking whether she has friends or family who support her or whether she gets out much. See pages 79-80 for more on asking about abuse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> CEL\_41: www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/mels/CEL2008\_41.pdf

#### **OTHER WARNING SIGNS MAY INCLUDE:**

- A family history of older siblings marrying early. In these cases, their parents may think it is their duty to ensure that children are married soon after puberty in order to protect them from sex outside marriage
- Withdrawal from education, or for women with physical or learning disabilities, withdrawal from their social networks or day care
- A young woman being taken to the doctor to be examined to see if she is a virgin
- Possible presentation of symptoms associated with poisoning
- Less commonly, hair cut or shaved as punishment

#### **HOW HEALTH WORKERS CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE**

In all cases you can improve women's safety and health by:

- Displaying information about forced marriage and details of helplines and organisations such as Women's Aid (this could be in private places, such as women's toilets)
- Being aware of the possibility of abuse
- Recognising signs and symptoms
- Broaching the subject sensitively
- Listening and making time
- Giving information and referring on to other services

To support disclosure and protect a woman at risk of, or in a forced marriage:

- Provide a private and confidential environment where she can speak without fear of being overheard
- See her on her own, even if she is accompanied. The only exception should be a professional interpreter
- Under no circumstances should a family member, friend or community leader be used to interpret, even if they provide assurances
- Treat her with respect and dignity. Understand the grave risks she may face in talking about abuse
- Recognise that she may fear contact with statutory agencies she may have been told that she will be deported and/or that her children will be taken from her

## ASKING ABOUT ABUSE: ROUTINE AND OPPORTUNISTIC ENQUIRIES

You should take a proactive role to establish whether forced marriage is an issue. NHSScotland has introduced a programme of routine enquiry into abuse within key settings. More information on this and how to ask about abuse is available at **www.gbv.scot.nhs.uk** and from your NHS Board's gender-based violence lead.

Asking, routinely or opportunistically, may encourage a woman to disclose. But even if she does not disclose, it shows that you understand the issues and it may give her confidence to disclose at a later date.

It is important that you set the context before asking such questions (see pages 32-35) and that your practice is consistent with routine enquiry above.

#### **SUGGESTED QUESTIONS TO ASK ARE:**

- 'Have you ever been afraid of your partner's or a family member's behaviour?'
- 'Are they verbally abusive?'
- 'Do you ever feel unsafe at home?'
- 'Has your partner or anyone else at home threatened you?'

#### **FOLLOW-ON QUESTIONS ARE:**

- 'Have you ever been hurt by your partner or anyone else at home perhaps slapped, kicked, punched or treated badly?'
- 'Have you ever been forced to have sex when you didn't want to?'

You can tailor these questions for relevance to your setting. For example, in a child and adolescent mental health setting, or any department where children and young people attend, the questions could focus on the family relationship. For example:

- O 'Do you get on with your parents?'
- 'Apart from school, do you get out much?'
- 'Do you get to choose what you want to do and when, such as seeing friends?'

Depending on the answer, you could ask more in-depth questions, for example about gender roles, about the marriage of older siblings and the circumstances of these.

#### **YOUR RESPONSE**

For a woman already in a forced marriage

- Assess the impact on her health and ensure she receives appropriate treatment
- Assess her safety is there an immediate or future safety risk?
- Go over a safety plan with her (see page 48)
- O Discuss the options available to her (see page 37) and ensure she can get information in a language and format suitable to her needs
- Check her immigration status to assess the help available (see page 73). If she is from overseas, leaving the marriage and applying to remain in the UK is complicated, and requires professional immigration advice. Refer to legal services which can help (see section 5)
- If she wishes, refer her to a support agency such as Women's Aid. Shakti and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid have particular experience in this area (see pages 126-127)
- O Give her information about support agencies including the Domestic Abuse Helpline 0800 027 1234 (can she memorise this?)
- Refer her to the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10) for specialist help and support
- Depending on the degree of freedom she has, it may not be possible for her to contact these services on her own or to follow aspects of the safety plan
- Discuss this with her and whether she needs more assistance to contact other agencies
- Is she is in immediate danger would an admission to hospital help to allow contact to be made with other agencies? Does she want you to contact the police?
- Offer her a further appointment. A health appointment may be one of the few occasions where she is allowed out of the house and having an appointment card can give her a legitimate excuse. This may provide the opportunity for getting further help
- Always document any disclosure, actions and follow up in patient notes but never in hand held records

#### IF A WOMAN IS AT RISK OF FORCED MARRIAGE

If you suspect, or are told by a woman, that she is being forced into marriage, try to establish the facts and the level of response required. Remember that she has limited options (see page 37).

#### **ACTIONS TO TAKE**

See page 52 for actions to take.



#### DO NOT:

- Involve her family this can jeopardise her safety. They may punish her for seeking help; deny that she is being forced to marry; expedite any travel arrangements; and bring forward the marriage
- Visit the family to ask them whether they are intending to force a marriage or write to the family asking to discuss the allegation
- Use relatives, friends, community leaders and neighbours as interpreters, despite any reassurances from them
- Contact an Embassy or High Commission without her consent. She may not wish her country of origin to know her whereabouts

#### IF A WOMAN IS GOING OVERSEAS IMMINENTLY

- If there is no opportunity to refer a woman to other services, and she fears she will be forced into marriage, gather as much information as possible in order to locate her (see page 55)
- Make sure she is aware of the implications of dual nationality (see page 74)
- Confirm that she has the details of the nearest Embassy/British High Commission and the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 126)

#### CHILD PROTECTION

If you are concerned for the safety of a young person under 16, or she discloses that she is being forced into marriage, or is concerned that this might be the case, you should discuss this with your child protection adviser and activate local child protection procedures. Similarly, if a woman discloses forced marriage you should ensure that your risk assessment includes risks to any children within the family.

#### ADULT SUPPORT AND PROTECTION

While forced marriage is commonly a problem for young women, there have been reports of both disabled female and male adults being forced to marry (see page 109). In such circumstances, you should consider whether they are 'unable to safeguard their own interests through disability, mental disorder, illness or physical or mental infirmity, and are at risk of harm or self-harm, including neglect' as defined by the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007.

You should refer to local procedures and protocols on protecting adults and seek advice from your adult protection lead on whether more directive intervention is necessary.

#### **LEGAL PROTECTION FOR VICTIMS**

See section 3 for more information.

#### **CASE STUDY**

Two young women from an Asian community were referred by a local college to a health care team. The two women made it clear that contact could only be made at college and the nurses could never come to their homes. The women were very concerned that their families were planning to force them to marry overseas. On enquiry, both women said that they believed they would be drugged/sedated to the point where they would be incoherent in speech but be able to walk/mobile. They said that, in such circumstances, women were commonly 'circled by families within their families (groups of five or six women) and physically guided and led through airport security'. Both women had learning disabilities and both indicated that they did not want to leave Scotland or be married. The nurses contacted a specialist support agency with the consent of both women. A contact was established by the agency and the women. However, when the nursing staff next arranged to meet with the women at the college, the women were not there and had dropped out of college. The nurses were unable to contact either party at their home address.

#### DOCUMENTING AND RECORDING

Keep accurate and detailed records if forced marriage has occurred, or is threatened (see page 46).

Record the following:

- Nature of abuse, with details of any injuries and symptoms
- What the woman says and not what you think, although it is important to note any concerns or suspicions
- Outcome of risk assessment
- Any action taken or advised
- Information (as above) if there are concerns that a woman may be taken overseas or may 'disappear'

#### **EVIDENCE**

The information you record may be evidence, for example in a future court case<sup>55</sup> or to help her apply for the domestic violence concession (see page 133). A health professional can help her by providing evidence in the form of:

- A medical report from a hospital doctor confirming that she has injuries consistent with being a victim of domestic abuse
- A letter from a GP who has examined her and is satisfied that she has injuries consistent with assault/her version of events

#### **SHARING INFORMATION**

- You may need to share information about a particular case. It may be required by law or it may be necessary to share information with support agencies to make sure that a woman and any children are safe and properly supported (see page 39)
- O Get the woman's permission before you pass on information and seek advice if you are in any doubt. However, in cases where there are concerns for a child under child protection guidelines or adult under adult support and protection guidelines, this would override the need for consent
- It may be safer to share information than keep it confidential. It is important, however, to keep women informed about this
- Be careful not to divulge confidential information by accident, for example, if you are approached by a family friend or someone with standing in the community (such as an MSP, MP or councillor) with a plausible reason for knowing where the woman is staying

#### **FOLLOW UP**

Your intervention will depend on the setting you work in. You may only see the woman once, for example, in an emergency setting. If possible, it is helpful to offer a follow up appointment. Record that the reason for this appointment is specific, and ensure your manager knows you have concerns. Always consider the woman's safety and how any approach you make might affect this (see page 36).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> A statement would also be required in a criminal case.

# 14. GUIDELINES FOR SCHOOL, COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY STAFF

This chapter focuses on responding to young people (including those over 18) in educational settings. The specific actions you take will depend on the particular circumstances of the case and whether you work in a school, FE college, university or other formal or informal education setting. The term 'young person' in this section refers to school pupils and college/university students.

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

#### **CASE STUDY**

X was 17 when she told her school guidance teacher that she was to be forced into marriage overseas following a visit to her family there. While with her family overseas she had agreed to be married, but when she got back to Scotland she changed her mind. A Sikh, she was secretly conducting a relationship (mainly over the internet) with a Sikh man she had met through family but who lived elsewhere in the UK. Her parents found out about the relationship and confronted her. They held her at home, subjecting her to verbal and physical abuse until she consented to the overseas marriage. Her guidance teacher, Shakti Women's Aid, social work and the police worked closely together. A subsequent police investigation resulted in the parents being charged with assault, breach of the peace and threats.

#### **BACKGROUND**

Young women who are, or fear they may be, forced to marry are frequently withdrawn from education, restricting their educational and personal development. They may feel unable to go against the wishes of their parents and, consequently, may suffer emotionally, often leading to depression and self-harm. These factors can contribute to impaired social development, limited career and educational opportunities, financial dependence and lifestyle restrictions.

#### **IDENTIFYING FORCED MARRIAGE**

Young people who fear they may be forced to marry often come to the attention of, or turn to, a teacher, lecturer or other member of staff before seeking help from the police or others. Sometimes their friends tell staff.

You may notice the following:

- A young person appears anxious, depressed and emotionally withdrawn with low self-esteem. She may have mental health or eating disorders or be self-harming. Sometimes, young people come to the attention of the police because of shoplifting or taking drugs or alcohol. These issues may be more apparent in periods leading up to the holiday season
- Sudden decline in a young person's performance, aspirations or motivation.
   They may feel studying is pointless if they are to be forced to marry and unable to continue with their education
- Change in dress, that is from wearing western clothes to 'traditional' style clothes or even covering the head
- Coming to school/college but not attending lessons. She may be living in virtual imprisonment, subject to excessive restrictions and control at home. She may not be allowed to attend any extra-curricular or after school activities and may be accompanied to and from school/college, and even during lunch breaks. So, being in school may be the only 'free' time she has for the usual adolescent activities that her peers pursue at weekends with their friends
- She may stop coming to school/college. Some young women have been locked inside and not allowed to communicate with anyone outside
- Her punctuality may decline, especially past compulsory education age, which may be the result of having to 'negotiate' her way out of the house. Young women may be given very little time to get to school so they do not have time to meet a boyfriend or talk to friends. Sometimes, older siblings (usually brothers) and cousins keep a close eye on girls to make sure that they do not meet anyone or talk to friends
- Homework/assignments may be incomplete or appear rushed. This may be the result of being actively discouraged by family members. They may do their work late at night, which frequently shows in class through lethargy, inability to concentrate and general appearance of tiredness
- Conflict between the young person and her parents about being allowed to continue with education or exam commitments
- Family arguments about whether the young person can apply to go to college or university, and the distance of the college or university from the family home

Family history of older siblings leaving education early and marrying early. Some families think it is their duty to ensure that children are married soon after puberty in order to protect them from sex outside marriage. In these cases, there may be a history of considerable absence authorised by the young person's parents. These absences may be for sickness, or extended family holidays overseas often interrupting the school term

A large proportion of forced marriages occur during the summer holidays. Young people may be taken abroad on what they think is a holiday to visit family overseas, but, in fact a marriage is planned.

Signs to look out for around holiday times:

- Young person anxious about or fearing holidays
- Surveillance of young person by siblings or cousins at school or being met at the end of the day
- Young person discouraged or prevented from going on to college or university
- Persistent absence; requests for extended leave
- Decline in behaviour, performance or punctuality
- Not being allowed to attend extra-curricular activities
- Sudden announcement of engagement to a stranger

#### Note

Some of the above indicators (for example anxiety around holiday times and significant levels of surveillance from family members) might be associated with families arranging for young women to be circumcised in the UK or overseas ('female genital mutilation' (FGM) or 'cutting'). This is against the law (see page 28).

#### **HOW EDUCATION STAFF CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE**

See also school context and college/university context below.

You can play a crucial role in identifying and protecting young people at risk of forced marriage and you should be vigilant, especially in the run up to holidays. If the warning signs are picked up early enough, you may be able to intervene to prevent a forced marriage from happening but you need to know how to handle the situation in order to avoid putting the victim at further risk.

While it is important to understand the motives that drive families to force young people to marry (see page 22), there is no justification for denying young people the right to choose a partner and enter freely into marriage.

Young people at risk of forced marriage need a sensitive and urgent response. You should reassure any young person in this situation that your establishment will provide as much support as possible. Because of the very serious risks to victims, you may have to vary your standard practice in involving families and respecting 'parents' rights'. This is a challenge. Refer to your inter-agency child protection guidance and local authority lead for forced marriage.

#### **CASE STUDY**

C was always able and keen at school but, when she was 15, turning 16, her behaviour and attitude changed and deteriorated further as the summer holidays approached. She missed several exams and at the start of the autumn term she did not turn up at school at all. One of her friends told her guidance teacher that she feared a possible forced marriage, and that C had been left overseas by her family. The school contacted the police and social work who also contacted the Forced Marriage Unit. C was finally located and repatriated to the UK. She had to re-sit her exams the following year but is doing well and living in foster care.

#### CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION SHARING

Victims or potential victims of forced marriage who disclose their circumstances may be exposing themselves to serious harm and even death. You must ensure highest standards of confidentiality (according to your service protocols specifically on forced marriage) and explain any limits to confidentiality (for example, if there is a risk of immediate harm).

Any disclosure of information, should, ideally, be with consent. The victim should be involved in the decision-making process and retain as much control as possible over disclosures of information.

The victim's private business should be treated with absolute discretion, and any information passed on a 'need to know' basis (see page 39), for example to the police for an investigation and any records should be stored securely with restricted access (see page 46). Remember that family networks may extend into your place of work.

#### **DOCUMENTING AND RECORDING**

Records (see pages 46-47) must be kept secure in accordance with the Data Protection Act (see page 40). Members of the victim's family or community may work in your establishment.



#### **REMEMBER:**

- A young person may not wish to be referred to a social worker, police officer or other professional from their own community
- You must not contact the family or other community members as this may endanger the young person and expedite any marriage arrangements
- You must not give information to a third party such as a family member or other professional such as a GP, MSP, MP or councillor, no matter how plausible or well intentioned they are
- You or the young person can contact the Forced Marriage Unit for advice or assistance at any time
- There are services which can help young people in these circumstances (see section 5)

#### **LEGAL PROTECTION FOR VICTIMS**

See section 3 for more information.

#### SCHOOL CONTEXT

All teachers have a remit to ensure the wellbeing of children and young people in education.

Getting it right for every child and young person (GIRFEC)<sup>56</sup> is a national programme which aims to improve the wellbeing of all children and young people. The approach requires a lead professional who co-ordinates multi-agency planning and makes sure that the different services provide a network of support around a child in a seamless, timely and proportionate way. All children have a named person in health or education (if they are of school age) who are responsible for making sure that a child has the right help in place to support their development and wellbeing. Teachers are, therefore, key to the named person response central to the *Getting it right* approach. Getting it right for every

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Young-People/gettingitright

child practice briefing 3<sup>57</sup> provides information on identifying concerns and responding using the GIRFEC approach.

Under Curriculum for Excellence<sup>58</sup>, teachers are responsible for promoting a climate in which children and young people feel safe and secure and for encouraging open, positive, supportive relationships across the school community, so that children and young people feel that they are listened to, and are secure in their ability to discuss sensitive aspects of their lives. You also have a role in equipping children with the knowledge, skills and understanding they need to keep themselves and others safe. This could include offering advice and guidance on issues such as forced marriage. Other responsibilities include understanding child protection policies and knowing the steps to take in any given situation.

The needs of all young people attending school should also be considered within the framework of the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004 (amended 2009)<sup>59</sup>. Staff in all establishments and services should consider whether or not any young person who is, or fears they may be, forced to marry has additional support needs related to their education and plan to meet these in line with child protection guidance.

Included, Engaged and Involved: Part 1 Attendance in Scottish Schools<sup>60</sup> encourages school staff to consider the circumstances which may lead to a change in a pupil's pattern of attendance and behaviour. You should be aware of the link between changed behaviour and pastoral and child protection concerns and consider these holistically. You should address changed behaviour, low-level or serious, or child protection concerns, such as self-harm using the behavioural or child protection measures set out in your school and local authority policy.

The National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>61</sup> states that education practitioners, school staff and staff in other learning settings play a crucial role in the support and protection of children as well as the development of their well-being. Teachers are likely to have the greatest level of day-to-day contact with children and so are well placed to observe physical and psychological changes in a child that could indicate abuse and to contribute to the assessment of vulnerable children. Education staff should share information about any concerns with the social work service or the police at an early stage using your established reporting mechanisms. You may also be asked to help

www.mars.stir.ac.uk/resources/2011/05/scottish-government-2011-getting-it-right-forevery-child-practice-briefing-3-identifying-concerns/

www.ltscotland.org.uk/understandingthecurriculum/whatiscurriculumforexcellence/index.asp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/7/contents

<sup>60</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2007/12/05100056/0

<sup>61</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

with investigations into alleged or suspected abuse or neglect. Children and young people often see teachers as a trusted source of help and support and where the concerns do not constitute a child protection concern, the teacher may have a supporting role in developing a Child's Plan.

Education services work with a range of other agencies, including Youth Work and Community Learning and Development to provide services and support to meet the needs of a child or young person and education staff can support a child through ongoing planning and interventions, including participation in Child Protection Case Conferences and core groups.

#### YOUR RESPONSE

Teaching staff have an important role in prevention work and creating an inclusive environment where young people feel comfortable and safe to discuss issues. Depending on your area of the curriculum or responsibility, forced marriage and wider issues of violence against women and gender-based violence could be introduced e.g. PSE, drama and English. A list of educational/teaching resources is on page 130.

You are also in an ideal position to identify and respond to a victim's needs at an early stage. It is important that you do so without creating additional risks. These are explained fully on page 31.

You must be honest with young people who approach you and tell them about the limits to confidentiality. Some young people will not know of your responsibilities to act if there is any risk of harm and may simply be looking for 'someone to talk to'. You must tell the pupil this outright and as close to the start of the conversation as possible.

Using the *Getting it right* approach, you should follow your organisation's policies and protocols, for example for child protection, adult protection, absence from school and so on. Be aware of the particular risks to victims associated with forced marriage and ensure that the young person's safety is the overriding factor. This means that it is not appropriate to engage with the family or wider community about your concerns. This could place a young person in further danger and expedite any arrangements.

For young people who are 16 years or older and still at school, there are issues about their rights as 'adults' and the level of risk to their life or wellbeing. There are various options for young people in these circumstances (see section 3) and they should be given as much control as possible. Whatever they decide to do (and this includes doing nothing) they may require support over the very long term. For example, leaving home and family because of forced marriage is a very hard decision which may have significant and enduring consequences.

#### IF A YOUNG PERSON ASKS YOU FOR HELP

- Explain to the young person that forced marriage is not accepted under the law in Scotland (see page 60) and that there are agencies which can help (see section 5)
- Explain that there are legal remedies available to support young people in this situation (see section 3)
- Refer immediately to your school/local authority procedures
- Depending on the situation, the level of concern may be such that it becomes a child protection or adult protection issue and you should follow the appropriate procedures
- Seek advice from your line manager/the local authority lead officer for forced marriage
- Record all steps you have taken

### IF A YOUNG PERSON STOPS ATTENDING SCHOOL OR DOES NOT RETURN FROM A 'HOLIDAY'

If a young person stops attending school, it is vital that schools deal with non-attendance sensitively in order to minimise risks. You should refer immediately to children missing from education protocols within your local authority.

### IF YOU SUSPECT/ARE CONCERNED THAT A YOUNG PERSON MAY BE FORCED TO MARRY

- Refer to your school/local authority procedures
- Seek advice from the local authority lead officer for forced marriage
- Discuss with the 'named person' (Getting it right)
- Record all steps you have taken

#### IF THE YOUNG PERSON IS GOING OVERSEAS IMMINENTLY

- Note down any information you can (see page 55). There may not be another opportunity if she goes overseas. This information may help the Forced Marriage Unit to locate the young person and assist to repatriate them
- Seek advice from the local authority lead officer for forced marriage
- Record all steps you have taken

#### IF A YOUNG PERSON HAS ALREADY BEEN FORCED TO MARRY

- Refer to your school/local authority child protection procedures
- Seek advice from the local authority lead officer for forced marriage
- Record all steps you have taken



#### SAFETY ALERT

- Treat what a young person tells you very seriously they may need immediate protection
- On not approach the young person's family or those with influence within the community, without the express consent of the young person, as this will alert them to your concerns and may place the young person in danger
- O Do not attempt to mediate with the family as this is dangerous

#### **COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY CONTEXT**

Your approach may differ according to the specific circumstances of the case, for example whether it involves a British national in danger of forced marriage or a student from overseas coming to a UK university who is in danger of forced marriage back home or in the UK.

Note that it is illegal to give immigration advice unless you are authorised to do so (see page 73). If immigration advice is required you should refer to an authorised adviser.

#### IF A STUDENT APPROACHES YOU FOR HELP

- Explain possible options to the victim (see page 37)
- Provide information about sources of help and support (see section 5) and make a referral for the victim if she wants this
- Explain that there are legal remedies available to support young people in this situation (see section 3)
- If you need information or advice, contact the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10)

If she is going overseas imminently or you are concerned that she may be forced to marry

- Try to gather as much information as possible (see page 55). There may not be another opportunity if she goes overseas. This information may help the Forced Marriage Unit to locate the young person and assist to repatriate them.
- Follow the 'one chance' actions on page 52
- If she is a British national, give her the contact details of the nearest British Embassy or High Commission to where she is going (see page 126)
- If she has dual nationality, advise her to travel on her British passport if possible (see page 74)
- Advise her to leave photocopies of her passport and birth certificate with a trusted friend or agency
- O If she is not a British national, advise her to contact the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10). It may be able to provide details of reliable non-governmental organisations overseas and the details of the relevant embassy
- Explain the difficulties that she may face when overseas (see page 28)
- Explain the options available to her (see page 37)



#### **SAFETY ALERT**

If a friend is involved in helping her, also consider the risks to this friend and talk this through with them.

#### 15. GUIDELINES FOR POLICE OFFICERS

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

#### **CASE STUDY**

Y was 14 when she moved from an all-girl to a mixed-sex school when the family business re-located. A second generation Muslim from South Asia, her brother told her parents that she had befriended a Sikh boy at the new school and the parents reacted by announcing she would 'have to be married' to protect the family honour. She was taken overseas in the school holidays to be introduced and 'get engaged' to the prospective spouse. She refused to co-operate and so her parents would not let her return with them to Scotland.

She spent the next four years overseas under strict control and scrutiny, still refusing to consent to marry as she was 'still a child' and 'not able to be a good wife to anyone'. However, the marriage arrangements progressed regardless. The intention was that she would marry when she reached 18 and that the spouse would return to Scotland with her on a spousal visa.

After the law changed requiring both parties to be 21<sup>59</sup> for spousal visas, her family brought her back to Scotland. But the marriage arrangements were still in place; just delayed.

She remained under the strict control of her family and was not allowed to be home alone or go out without a chaperone. But, one time, she was left with an elderly relative and managed to contact a telephone helpline. She asked them to help her get away. The helpline contacted the police who provided immediate assistance and referral including for relocation, refuge accommodation and support.

There was not enough evidence for a criminal prosecution.

After some time in refuge, she eventually returned home when her family assured her that marriage would not be forced upon her; they would relax restrictions at home; and allow her to work in the family business under parental supervision. It is not known whether this arrangement was honoured.

<sup>62</sup> See footnote 33.

#### **HOW POLICE OFFICERS CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE**

Police officers have various responsibilities in responding to forced marriage. Providing safety and protection for the victim is paramount. This will support the effective investigation of any crimes associated with forcing someone to marry; and assist with prosecuting such crimes and supporting witnesses and/or other victims.



- ✓ You must understand the issues surrounding forced marriage and the steps you can take to protect a victim
- ✓ Those living in a forced marriage, or under threat of one, may face significant harm if their families become aware that they have sought assistance from an agency
- ✓ In many cases, it may not be in their best interest to remain with the family or even in the immediate area

All forces have a designated strategic lead for forced marriage. There are officers, generally within the force Public Protection Unit, who have specialist knowledge of forced marriage and can provide support and advice for handling reported cases. This may include making a third party application for a Forced Marriage Protection Order. All cases should be brought to the attention of an officer with specialist knowledge of forced marriage as soon as is practicable.

In all cases where the person is a 'child' you should always refer to:

- Local inter-agency child protection procedures/guidance
- Scottish Government's National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>63</sup>

In all cases where the person may be the subject of an adult protection concern you should always refer to:

- Local inter-agency adult protection procedures/guidance
- Adult protection legislation

<sup>63</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

#### **LEGAL POSITION**

See section 3 for more information.

### WHAT TO DO IF SOMEONE FEARS THEY MAY BE FORCED TO MARRY OR HAS ALREADY BEEN FORCED TO MARRY

Many cases of forced marriage come to light when a person (particularly a woman) is reported missing or there are allegations of abuse. But some cases are brought to the attention of police when a victim is forced to act as a sponsor for their spouse's immigration to the UK. They are frequently reluctant to tell the immigration service that it was a forced marriage because of threats and fear of reprisals from the family. A person whose application to enter the UK as a spouse is refused has a right to know the reasons why – and the right to appeal against the decision. This can place the person in a difficult position.

- 1. Refer to the national/force guidance on honour-based violence and implement local procedures
- 2. Ensure the person is dealt with in a culturally sensitive way and their wishes are recognised and respected
- 3. Discuss the case with the Forced Marriage Unit if relevant
- 4. Signpost/refer the victim, with their consent, to support services experienced in working with victims of forced marriage (see pages 126 and 127)
- 5. Provide immediate safety planning advice and safe contact information

#### **REMEMBER:**

Although someone may be tempted to prevent a successful visa application for their spouse, in reality, it is not possible to do this without all parties concerned being aware of their reason for not wishing to sponsor their spouse's visa application. Spouses forced into marriage may suffer years of domestic abuse, but feel unable to leave due to fear of losing their children, lack of family support, economic pressures and other social circumstances. The fact that they were forced to marry may only become apparent years after the marriage has taken place.



#### DO NOT:

- Go directly to the person's family, friends or community as this will alert them to the enquiries and may place them in further danger
- Make direct contact with the British Embassy, High Commission or overseas police without first liaising with the Forced Marriage Unit

### IF A THIRD PARTY REPORTS THAT SOMEONE HAS BEEN TAKEN OVERSEAS FOR THE PURPOSE OF A FORCED MARRIAGE

A victim may be taken overseas, for example on the pretext of a holiday or family visit. Some victims report being drugged by their parents. Their documents and passports may be taken away from them on arrival. They may be reported to the police as missing by a concerned friend, relative, partner or agency. You should refer to the national/force guidance as above and:

Follow actions 1 to 5 (page 96) and:

- Discuss the case with the Forced Marriage Unit
- Check existing missing persons' reports
- Obtain details of, and maintain contact with, the third party in case the person contacts them whilst overseas or on their return
- Reassure the third party that if the person who is being held overseas wishes to return to the UK (and they are a British national), the Foreign & Commonwealth Office can try to repatriate them as soon as possible. The Foreign & Commonwealth Office is obliged to ask the individual, the third party or trusted friends to fund the cost of repatriation. However, this should never delay the process of getting the individual to safety.



#### DO NOT:

- Speak to the person on the telephone to find out if they are being held against their will. They may not be able to speak freely, they may be under threat and/or it may be another person (impersonator) on the telephone
- Disclose information to the overseas police or any other overseas organisation which could place the person in further danger

#### **CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE**

If the case involves a young person who has left the country, the legal options open to police, social services, other agencies or another person to recover the young person and bring them back to the UK are limited.

### WHAT TO DO WHEN A VICTIM HAS COME TO THE UK FROM OVERSEAS

A victim may come to the UK from overseas and report that they have been forced to marry. They may not speak English or know about support to which they may be entitled.

If a victim comes to the UK from overseas on a spousal or other temporary visa, she may have 'no recourse to public funds' (see page 73). Public funds include income support and housing benefit. This means that it may be extremely difficult to get access to a refuge (although occasionally refuges may be able to offer places). She may believe she has no option but to remain in the marriage and feel unable to co-operate with police or anyone in 'authority'. She may not speak English and may not be aware of sources of support. See section 5 for information about support available.

Social work may have the power to make discretionary payments if children are involved. These payments do not count as public funds.

Under the domestic violence concession (see page 133) a victim can apply for indefinite leave to remain as a spouse of a person present and settled in the UK.

Anyone who has been granted 'indefinite leave to enter or remain', refugee leave, humanitarian protection, discretionary leave or who has a right of abode in the UK is entitled to access public funds on the same basis as a British citizen.

Follow actions 1 to 5 on page 96.

#### REMEMBER:

It is unlawful for anyone to provide unregulated immigration advice or immigration services. You should make ensure that the victim seeks immigration advice from a regulated adviser/organisation.

#### **EVIDENCE**

A woman may apply for Indefinite Leave to Remain using the domestic violence rule (see page 133). The police can provide evidence of domestic abuse in the form of a report confirming attendance at the applicant's home because of domestic abuse. Your records and statements may be vital evidence in their immigration case. This evidence may be placed before an immigration hearing and you may be called as a witness.

#### **'PORT STOP' PROCEDURE**

In cases where an attempt may be made to remove a child from the UK without consent, you should consider implementing a 'port stop'. You should refer to force guidance on child abduction.

# 16. GUIDELINES FOR CHILDREN AND FAMILIES SOCIAL WORKERS

This chapter focuses on children who are in or at risk of forced marriage. The specific actions you take will depend on the particular circumstances of the case.

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

#### **CASE STUDY**

When R, a British national, was 10, her father breached a court order and, without her mother's permission, took her and her four siblings to Pakistan. She pleaded with her father to be allowed to return home but he refused to let her and told her she was engaged to her cousin. He also told her that her mother didn't want her back in the UK. Finally, when she was 15, she managed to contact her mother using a secret mobile phone and asked her mother to help her. Things got worse after that. Her mobile phone was found and confiscated. Her father beat her because she had 'looked at a boy'. Then she was told she was going to Afghanistan to meet her prospective husband. She managed to get a message to her mother who contacted the Forced Marriage Unit. In the UK, court orders were obtained against her father. She was rescued from her father's home by the British High Commission and returned to her mother in the UK.

During the five years in Pakistan, she was regularly beaten. She had also been confined to the house and not allowed to go to school. She is still frightened that her father will come for her but she is now getting her life back on track. Her two older brothers and sister were not so 'lucky' and were forced to marry at 15 or 16.

#### **BACKGROUND**

The consequences of forced marriage can be devastating to children and young people affected. They may be subject to extreme abuse and 'honour-based' violence if they resist their families. They may become estranged from their families and wider communities and lose out on educational opportunities. Rates of suicide and self-harm are high.

#### **HOW SOCIAL WORKERS CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE**

The National Child Protection Guidelines (2010)<sup>64</sup> state:

'Local authorities have a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need in their area, including disabled children, and, insofar as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of children by their families by providing a range and level of services appropriate to children's needs. When the local authority receives information which suggests that a child may be in need of compulsory measures of supervision, social work services will make enquiries and give the Children's Reporter any information they have about the child. The Role of the Registered Social Worker in Statutory Interventions: Guidance for Local Authorities stipulates that, where children are in need of protection and/or in danger of serious exploitation or significant harm, a registered social worker will be accountable for:

- Carrying out enquiries and making recommendations where necessary as to whether or not the child or young person should be the subject of compulsory protection measures
- Implementing the social work component of a risk management plan and taking appropriate action where there is concern that a multiagency plan is not being actioned and
- Making recommendations to a children's hearing or court as to whether the child should be accommodated away from home'

#### **IDENTIFYING FORCED MARRIAGE**

Indicators which might alert you that a young person is facing forced marriage include:

#### **Education**

- Absence and persistent absence from education
- Request for extended leave of absence and failure to return from visits to country of origin
- Decline in behaviour, engagement, performance or punctuality
- Being withdrawn from school by those with parental responsibility
- Being prevented from attending extra-curricular activities
- Being discouraged or prevented from going on to further/higher education

<sup>64</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

#### Health

- Self-harm
- Attempted suicide
- Depression
- Eating disorders
- Accompanied to doctors or clinics and prevented from speaking to health practitioner in confidence
- Female genital mutilation

#### **Police**

- Reports of domestic abuse, harassment or breaches of the peace at the family home
- Threats to kill and attempts to kill or harm
- Truancy or persistent absence from school

#### YOUR RESPONSE

As a practitioner, you should be aware of the issues surrounding forced marriage, the dangers victims face and the help which can be offered to victims.

Under Section 22(1) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995<sup>65</sup>, the local authority has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need in their area, and, so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of such children by their families by providing a level of services appropriate to those children's needs.

Under Section 53(1) the local authority has a duty to make enquiries into the circumstances of any child who may be in need of compulsory measures of supervision and to refer the child to the Reporter if the inquiry indicates compulsory measures of supervision may be necessary.

The local authority has a duty to make enquiries into allegations of abuse or neglect against a child under section 53 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995.

Forced marriage is child abuse and can put children and young people at risk of physical, emotional and sexual abuse. Although you need to be sensitive to cultural and racial differences, you have an overriding duty to identify children who are likely to suffer significant harm, and to invoke the necessary child protection procedures. The personal safety of the child or young person must come first.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents

The National Guidance for Child Protection (2010)<sup>66</sup> and the *Getting it right*<sup>67</sup> approach will direct your work in ensuring that children and young people are safe and supported within a multi-agency approach. *Getting it right* Integrated Assessment Framework (paragraphs 93-94) should enable risk factors to be identified and shared to enable full assessment of risk. A child's planning meeting will enable a wide range of practitioners to provide information.

The Children's Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011<sup>68</sup> is due to come into force in 2012. The Act will introduce significant changes to the protection available. In particular, section 12A of the Forced Marriage Act amended section 67(2) of the Children's Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011 to establish a separate ground for a child being forced into a marriage, 'force' being construed in accordance with section 1 of the Forced Marriage Act.

Cases of honour-based violence/forced marriage can involve complex and sensitive issues and you must take care to ensure that interventions do not place the child or young person in further danger. The usual procedures for including parents where possible in the child protection process need to be set aside and noted as inappropriate in the records because this could increase the risk to a child.

Each Child Protection Committee (CPC) has local inter-agency child protection policy, procedure, protocols and guidelines for helping children and young people who are facing abuse. Your social work department should have multi-agency policies and procedures on child protection and domestic abuse which include handling cases involving forced marriage. Your local authority also has a designated lead for forced marriage.



If there is any suggestion of risk of forced marriage, you should not mediate with or involve the family as this can place a child or young person in danger. This includes visiting or writing to the family to ask them about their intentions or discuss a child's allegations. Family group conferences are not appropriate.

# **CASE STUDY**

When L's father found out about her boyfriend, he was so angry that he cut off her hair. He told her that having a boyfriend was against their culture. She would have to marry the man he chose and have a virginity test. L was so scared that she took an overdose. Fortunately she recovered in hospital.

<sup>66</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

<sup>67</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Young-People/gettingitright

<sup>68</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/1/contents

# **LEGAL CONTEXT AND REMEDIES**

See section 3 for more information.

There are various legal remedies available to protect a child or young person who is at risk of or in a forced marriage. These remedies vary according to the individual circumstances and whether the child or young person is in the UK or overseas, a British national or not.

Local authorities can make third party applications for Forced Marriage Protection Orders (see page 62).

## INTERPRETING

See page 33.

Arrange for an authorised interpreter who speaks the dialect of the child or young person. If necessary, obtain consent from the child or young person through Language Line (see page 129). Check any preferences about the gender of the interpreter.

# CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION SHARING

See page 39.

# RECORDING AND STORING INFORMATION

See page 46.



## **SAFETY ALERT:**

- Treat what a young person tells you very seriously they may need immediate protection
- Do not approach the young person's family or those with influence within the community, without the express consent of the young person, as this will alert them to your concerns and may place the young person in danger
- Do not attempt to mediate with the family as this is dangerous

# IN ALL CASES WHEN A CHILD IS INVOLVED:

- 1. Refer to local inter-agency child protection procedures/guidance and implement local procedures. Do not involve the victim's family or community as this may cause additional risks
- 2. Refer to the national child protection guidelines<sup>69</sup>
- 3. Gather information as carefully and discretely as possible (see page 55)
- 4. Refer to local and national child protection information sharing protocols
- 5. Seek advice from your local authority forced marriage lead officer and legal services department
- 6. Discuss the case with the Forced Marriage Unit (for professional immigration advice)
- 7. Always ensure the child or young person is dealt with in a culturally sensitive way and their wishes are recognised and respected



#### DO NOT:

- O Go directly to the victim's family, friends or those with influence within the community, as this will alert them to the enquiries and may place the victim in further danger
- Make direct contact with the British Embassy, High Commission or overseas police without first liaising with the Forced Marriage Unit

# IF A CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON FEARS THEY MAY BE FORCED TO MARRY

A child or young person may approach you directly because they are going on a 'family holiday' overseas and are concerned as they suspect that they are to be forced to marry. You should take any such concerns seriously. (But do not assume that every young person going on holiday overseas is at risk of forced marriage.)

If the risk of forced marriage is immediate, you may need to take emergency action to remove the child or young person from the home in order to protect them. You can take emergency measures under Section 57-62 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995<sup>70</sup>.

National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010): www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

<sup>70</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents

# IF A THIRD PARTY REPORTS THAT A CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON HAS BEEN TAKEN OVERSEAS FOR THE PURPOSE OF A FORCED MARRIAGE

A concerned friend, relative or practitioner may report that a child or young person is missing, taken overseas. Confidentiality and discretion are vitally important. Do not immediately contact an overseas organisation to make enquiries. If, through your actions, the family becomes aware that enquiries are being made, they may move the child or young person to another location or expedite the marriage.

- Follow actions 1 to 7 (on page 104) and
- Check existing missing persons' reports
- Obtain details of, and maintain contact with, the third party in case the child or young person contacts them whilst overseas or on their return
- Reassure the third party that if the child or young person who is being held overseas is a British National and wishes to return to the UK, the Foreign & Commonwealth Office can try to repatriate them as soon as possible (see below)

Once a young person has left the country, the legal options open to police, social services, other agencies or another person to recover the young person and bring them back to the UK are limited.



# DO NOT:

- Speak to the child or young person on the telephone in order to find out if they are being held against their will. They may not be able to speak freely, may be under threat and/or it may be another person (impersonator) on the telephone.
- Disclose information to the overseas police or any other overseas organisation that could place the child or young person in further danger e.g. disclosure about previous/current boyfriends or partners in the UK.

# IF A CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON HAS ALREADY BEEN FORCED TO MARRY

This might come to your attention for various reasons. For example, a child or young person may approach you or the police because they are concerned that they may need to act as a sponsor for an overseas spouse's immigration to the UK. You should reassure the child or young person that they cannot act as a sponsor until they are 18. However, confronting the family may be extremely risky for the child or young person.

- See points 1 to 7 (on page 104) and:
- Tell her about the support available to survivors of domestic abuse and forced marriage (see section 5) and refer if appropriate
- Provide immediate safety planning advice (including how to safely keep in contact)

# IF A CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON IS REPATRIATED TO THE UK FROM OVERSEAS

The Forced Marriage Unit may ask social workers for assistance when a child or young person is being repatriated to the UK from overseas. The child or young person may be extremely traumatised. They may have been held against their will for many months. They may have been emotionally and physically abused. Young women may have been raped, sometimes repeatedly or until they become pregnant. They may have risked their life to escape and their family may go to considerable lengths to find them. This makes all victims particularly vulnerable when they return to the UK.

When a child or young person who is a British national arrives at, or contacts, a British Embassy or High Commission, the Foreign & Commonwealth Office can try to repatriate them as soon as possible. Unfortunately, due to the urgency of the situation, the Foreign & Commonwealth Office may not be able to give you much notice of the young person's arrival.

The Foreign & Commonwealth Office is obliged to explore all options for funding the cost of repatriation. For victims who are children or young people, this means asking the young person themselves, a trusted friend or children and family social work services or a school or college if they are able to meet the costs of repatriation. However, this should never delay the process of getting the child or young person to safety.

- Follow points 1 to 7 (on page 104) and
- Arrange for someone to meet the child or young person at the airport e.g. a social worker, police officer
- Ensure that arrangements are put in place to ensure safe accommodation of a repatriated child or young person while legal remedies and action are considered

# **REMEMBER:**

- Arranging a foster family from the same community as the child or young person may not be appropriate and may place the child or young person at risk of harm.
- A child or young person might wish, and you should in any case actively encourage them, to be fostered outside the immediate geographical area. You should liaise with colleagues to provide safe accommodation.
- The child or young person may need practical help such as emergency money, clothes and toiletries. Under the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, the local authority may be required to make a payment for a child or young person in need, including the cost of accommodation. The local authority within which the child or young person had their last permanent residence should provide funding.



# SAFETY ALERT

You may be placed under pressure from relatives, councillors, MSPs, MPs, and those with influence within the community to say where the young person has gone. Do not divulge this information. This may place the child or young person at risk of harm.

Family and community networks may extend into your own organisation. Be very careful about restricting access to information and records.

# IF A CHILD SPOUSE HAS COME TO THE UK FROM OVERSEAS

A spouse who is a child or young person may come to the UK from overseas. They may have run away, may not speak English and may be traumatised as a result of physical, emotional and sexual abuse.

They may come to your attention through a domestic abuse, missing persons or child protection route.

A child or young person who is married (whether or not they are a British national) is entitled to support and should be regarded as an unaccompanied child. This means that the local authority has certain duties to provide support and accommodation for them.

- Follow points 1 to 7 (on page 104) and
- Arrange for someone to meet the child or young person at the airport e.g. a social worker, police officer
- Organise safe and secure accommodation
- Pay particular attention to using interpreters for separated children and accessing specialist legal advice (see below)

Separated children are unaccompanied minors. Local authorities are responsible for assessing their needs and offering support. Separated children are often vulnerable due to their unaccompanied status and to their experiences in their home countries and during their journey to the UK. If child protection concerns arise, they should be addressed in the same way as if the child was a UK national.

Immigration and asylum issues relating to unaccompanied children are a highly specialised aspect of the legislative framework. The potential for exploitation and vulnerability is high and it is important that specialist legal advice is sought, even in situations that appear straightforward. There are complex and contested processes of age-testing that seek to clarify the ages of unaccompanied children arriving in this country without identifiable information and paperwork. The Scottish Refugee Council (see page 128) can provide initial support and information to help guide workers through these processes.

## IF THE CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON HAS A DISABILITY

Children and young people with mental and physical disabilities are sometimes forced to marry. Families may genuinely believe that finding a spouse to care for their disabled son/daughter is acceptable. They may try to hide, play down or make light of a child or young person's disability in order to encourage the marriage. Such young people are particularly vulnerable because they often depend on their families for care, they may have communication difficulties and fewer opportunities to tell anyone outside the family about what is happening to them.

Disabled children are defined as a child in need under section 93(4) of the Children (Scotland) Act  $1995^{71}$ .

Follow points 1 to 7 (on page 104)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents

# 17. GUIDELINES FOR ADULT SUPPORT AND PROTECTION STAFF

This chapter focuses on adults who, because of an illness, disability or health condition, are unable to protect themselves from harm. The specific actions you take will depend on the particular circumstances of the case.

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also Forced Marriage and Learning Disabilities: www.fco.gov.uk/resources/en/pdf/travel-living-abroad/when-things-go-wrong/fm-disability-guidelines

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

# **CASE STUDY**

D is 35 and has a learning disability. The marriage came to the attention of social workers after it had taken place. He lives with his mother who is in her 80s and she told his social worker that she wanted him to marry a woman who was coming to visit them from abroad. D said that he did not want to get married but his mother told him that no-one else would look after him when she died. He was extremely anxious about being married as he worried about what being a husband entailed. D's wife came to the UK to marry him but did not know he had a learning disability and left him two weeks after the marriage. This has had a profound effect on D's self-esteem as he thinks it was his fault that the marriage was a failure. He has become very withdrawn and will no longer attend the day centre where he had a lot of friends. Social work is not aware of long-term plans for his care because D does not want to engage with them.

# **BACKGROUND**

# Provisions of the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007

The Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007<sup>72</sup> (2007 Act) defines 'adults at risk' as adults (16+) who:

- Are unable to safeguard their own well-being, property, rights or other interests; and
- Are at risk of harm; and
- Because they are affected by disability, mental disorder, illness or physical or mental infirmity, are more vulnerable to being harmed than adults who are not so affected

This is known as the '3 point test'. The presence of a particular condition does not automatically mean an adult is an 'adult at risk'. Someone could have a disability but be able to safeguard their well-being. It is the whole of an adult's particular circumstances which can combine to make them more vulnerable to harm than others.

#### The 2007 Act:

- Places a duty on councils to make inquiries and investigations to establish whether or not further action is required to stop or prevent harm occurring
- Places a duty on specified organisations to co-operate in investigating suspected or actual harm
- Introduces a range of protection orders including assessment orders, removal orders and banning orders and
- Provides a legislative framework for the establishment of adult protection committees across Scotland

Forced marriage, like domestic abuse or other forms of violence against women/gender-based violence, is a form of harm which may be experienced by adults at risk. If an adult is known or believed to be an adult at risk of harm and in need of protection, as per the 3-point test, the local authority has a duty under section 4 of the 2007 Act to inquire into their well-being and to take action to prevent or stop the harm from occurring and to support the adult. Other agencies named in the 2007 Act are obliged to cooperate with a local authority in carrying out inquiries. A multi-agency approach is central to adult protection, and other public bodies have a key role in reporting cases of possible harm to the local authority social work department.

www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents

# **LOCAL AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES**

The 2007 Act requires each local authority to establish an adult protection committee for its area. These have various functions including keeping under review the procedures and practices of the public bodies which have duties and responsibilities under the 2007 Act. Adult protection committees are established on a multi-agency basis and must include representatives for the local authority, health board and police force.

Each multi-agency adult protection committee and all local authorities in Scotland have local adult support and protection procedures which provide guidance for staff within the partnership agencies. Public sector, voluntary and private organisations also have a duty to refer adults at risk and report situations of harm to the local authority.

In some instances, forced marriage may be an adult protection issue. Adult protection committees should ensure, through training, that staff are aware of the issues of forced marriage and that local adult protection procedures include practice guidance on forced marriages involving adults at risk of harm.

As a practitioner, you should be aware of the issues surrounding forced marriage, the dangers victims face and the help which can be offered to victims who approach the local authority for assistance or who come to the local authority's attention.

When there are concerns that an identified adult at risk may be, or has been, subjected to a forced marriage, adult protection procedures should be initiated. Particular caution should be exercised over confidentiality and information sharing (see page 114).

# **CASE STUDY**

The family advised the health care team that their son was being married to someone from another country whom he had never met. On enquiry, the family said that this was fine for him because he had a learning disability but she was no longer of childbearing years so it was suitable for them to be together, and that she could take care of him.

- **4**
- There is no justification for forcing someone to marry or not taking safeguarding action to prevent a forced marriage
- Disclosure of forced marriage should not be dismissed as merely a family matter. For many people, seeking help from an agency is a last resort and so you should take any disclosure seriously
- ✓ While forced marriage is commonly a problem for young women, there have been reports of both female and male adults with disabilities being forced to marry. In order to find a spouse, parents may accept a spouse who they would normally view as unacceptable, such as a person from a lower caste or social group
- Sometimes, to ensure a potential spouse is not put off, families may try to hide, play down or make light of a person's disability

# FORCED MARRIAGE INVOLVING PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES

Some key motives for forcing people with learning disabilities to marry include:

- Obtaining a carer for the person with a learning disability
- Obtaining financial security for the person with a learning disability
- Obtaining physical assistance for ageing parents
- Believing the marriage will somehow 'cure' the disability
- Believing that marriage is a 'rite of passage' for all young people
- Mistrust of the 'system', mistrust of external (social care/health) carers
- Fear that younger siblings may be seen as undesirable if older sons or daughters are not already married

Parents often do not see anything wrong in their actions. Indeed, when it involves a person with a learning disability, they may believe it is the right, or only, option and therefore, may be quite open about their intentions.



Duress, physical or emotional, is a common feature of forced marriage, including those involving people with learning disabilities. Sometimes a person with learning disabilities may be led to believe, or to say, that the marriage is what they want, but they may not fully understand the implications of that decision. This could be for a variety of reasons including the person wanting to please their family or to do what their siblings have done.

Adults at risk may be particularly defenceless if they rely on their families for care. They may have communication difficulties and they may have fewer opportunities to tell anyone outside the family about what is happening to them. They may be vulnerable because of lack of education about sex or relationships or limited opportunity to speak up for themselves.

# CAPACITY TO CONSENT TO SEXUAL INTERCOURSE AND MARRIAGE

Some adults with learning disabilities and/or mental health problems do not have the capacity to consent to a marriage.

The task of establishing capacity can be complex. Capacity is the ability to understand information relevant to a decision or action and to understand the consequence of taking or not taking that action or decision. The decision making process can be influenced by significant people in an individual's life. The Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000<sup>73</sup> provides for various types of proxy decision maker to be appointed for an adult who lacks the capacity to make a decision in relation to their welfare or finances. Under the 2000 Act, a guardian or intervener cannot have powers to consent to marriage on behalf of an adult.

It also states that the person's capacity must be maximised and so every effort should be made to provide communication support and access to independent advocacy.

Some people may be unable to consent to consummate the marriage. Sexual intercourse without consent is rape. Section 17 of the Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009<sup>74</sup> covers capacity to consent to sexual activity of a person with a mental disorder.

<sup>73</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents

<sup>74</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/contents

# INDEPENDENT ADVOCACY

Sometimes it is not appropriate for professionals to advocate for people using services because there is a conflict of interest. Victims of forced marriage should be presented with the option of having an independent advocate. As with interpreting, advocates should not be from the victim's family and there may be concerns if they are from the same cultural community. For more information on the role of the independent advocate see the Scottish Independent Advocacy Alliance website: www.siaa.org.uk

## CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION SHARING

For information on confidentiality and information sharing see page 39.



- You must be careful not to inadvertently place a victim at further risk of harm. Risks include approaching the family or the community, mediation, arbitration, use of interpreting services and failing to share information appropriately amongst agencies
- Involving families can be dangerous. Experience shows that the family may not only punish the victim but also deny that the person is being forced to marry, expedite any travel arrangements and bring forward the marriage
- Involving the family includes visiting the family to ask them whether they are intending to force their child to marry or writing a letter to the family requesting a meeting about their child's allegation that they are being forced to marry
- Relatives, friends, community leaders and neighbours should not be used as interpreters, despite any reassurances from this known person
- A third party e.g. family friend, councillor, MSP, MP may ask you for information. They may give you a very plausible reason, and may genuinely believe they are acting in the best interests of the victim but you should not tell them anything at all

Information can be shared in order to prevent or detect a crime, and if an adult is at risk of harm even if they have not given their consent. This information should always be shared safely and confidentially and only with those professionals directly involved with the case (see page 39). You should refer to local information sharing protocols. Section 10 of the 2007 Act requires those who hold certain types of information to share it with a local authority which is carrying out an inquiry or investigation under the Act.

You must take great care in handling such information. All records belonging to an individual should be kept secure to prevent unauthorised access by anyone who might pass information to the victim's family (see page 46).

A forced marriage may take place in the UK or abroad. In either situation, you should be ready to give guidance to the person about their rights, the choices open to them and to take action in partnership with other agencies to protect the adult from harm.

# **CASE STUDY**

The Registrar for Births and Marriages referred H to social work because he was concerned that H might have a learning disability and lack the capacity to be a sponsor for a person entering the country. H herself was excited about having a wedding and being married as her sisters were already married. The parents told the social worker that they wanted to protect their daughter, and that it would be easier for her to be married to someone who was familiar with her family and culture and who would be able to look after her when they had gone.

# WHAT YOU SHOULD DO FOLLOWING A REPORT OF FORCED MARRIAGE RELATING TO AN ADULT AT RISK OF HARM:

- Gather information as carefully and as discretely as possible (see page 55)
- Initiate adult protection procedures which may include the inter-agency referral discussion with the police. Exercise additional caution over family and community involvement
- Refer to local and national adult protection information sharing protocols
- Seek and share information with the police. Check police and social work records for past referrals of family members, including siblings, for example domestic abuse or missing persons within the family, unreasonable restrictions (withdrawal from education or house arrest)
- Discuss case with Forced Marriage Unit (for professional immigration advice)
- If appropriate, refer the adult to support services experienced in working with survivors of domestic abuse and forced marriage such as Shakti Women's Aid in Edinburgh and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid in Glasgow
- Seek advice from your local authority forced marriage lead officer and legal services department
- If the person's capacity to consent to marriage is in doubt, arrange for a capacity assessment

# ADULT SUPPORT AND PROTECTION PLAN

As part of the adult protection process, a protection plan will need to consider possible interventions to protect the adult. These may include:

- Referral to appropriate specialist services for victims of forced marriage (see section 5)
- Consultation with the Forced Marriage Unit (see page 10)
- If the adult at risk wishes to remain at the family home, consider plan to maintain contact without placing them at further risk (see page 36)
- Emergency action accommodation, Women's Aid refuge, legal remedies
- Forced Marriage Protection Orders (see page 62) (legal advice required)
- Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007<sup>75</sup>. Removal, Assessment and Banning Orders can be considered for adults at risk as defined by section 3 of the 2007 Act but only as the least restrictive option (legal advice required)
- Action under Mental Health (Care and Treatment) Act 2003<sup>76</sup>
- The adult may seek to take legal action themselves but if they lack the capacity to do so, the local authority or another person could consider seeking an Intervention or a Welfare Guardianship Order under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000<sup>77</sup> to proceed on their behalf
- An interdict various options (see page 71)
- Nullity or divorce proceedings

You should get advice about the various legal options from the local authority legal services and mental health officer team. As a matter of course, adult protection inquiries and investigations should involve all relevant areas of the local authority, as well as other public bodies and agencies. It is important to ensure that information is shared appropriately and that you seek advice from relevant colleagues.

For more information about legal remedies see section 3.

# **REMEMBER:**

It is unlawful for anyone to provide unregulated immigration advice or immigration services. You should ensure that immigration advice is given by a regulated adviser/organisation. Remember that you can consult the Forced Marriage Unit at any time (see page 10).

Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007: **www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents** 

Mental Health (Care and Treatment ) Act 2003: www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/13/contents

www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents

# IF AN ADULT IS REPORTED MISSING

See page 45.



Do not approach the family, friends or those people with influence within the community as this will alert them to your enquiries and may place the person in further danger. Confidentiality and discretion are vitally important. It is not advisable to contact an overseas organisation to make enquiries.

# IF YOU ARE SUSPICIOUS BECAUSE AN ADULT AT RISK IS BEING TAKEN ABROAD

The adult may be told, for example, that they are going on a family holiday or to visit relatives. These, of course, could be genuine reasons for a trip and you should make every effort to establish the full facts as soon as possible. You could gently enquire about return dates and plans. However, once an adult at risk has left the country, the legal options to support them to return them to the UK are limited. Seek advice from the Forced Marriage Unit.

# IF AN ADULT AT RISK HAS ALREADY BEEN FORCED TO MARRY

Some forced marriage cases come to light when the adult at risk is forced to act as sponsor for their spouse's immigration to the UK. The adult may be reluctant or unable to tell that it was a forced marriage for fear of reprisal. A person whose application to enter the UK as a spouse is refused has a right to know the reasons why – and the right to appeal against the decision. This can place the victim in a difficult position. The Forced Marriage Unit can be contacted to discuss options.

Some cases may initially be reported as domestic abuse. Those forced into marriage may experience years of domestic abuse, but not be able to seek help through fear of further abuse, losing their children, lack of family support, economic pressures and so on. The fact that they were forced to marry may only become apparent much later.

In some cases, the potential or actual spouse may themselves be subject to duress and/or duped into marriage to a person with a disability.

For all victims of forced marriage, leaving their marriage, family and community may be their only option but many will require support to do this. People with learning disabilities may require greater levels of support for longer periods of time.

Leaving the family and community is always a difficult decision to take for anyone forced into marriage. For many people with learning disabilities it can be even more so, as they may have no experience of life outside the family and no financial, physical, social or emotional support. For those requiring high levels of support, leaving home becomes almost impossible. For example, they might not be capable of maintaining the high levels of secrecy that are required, even if they were to leave.

In addition, leaving their family (or reporting them to the police or simply approaching statutory agencies for help if they are able to) may be seen as bringing shame on the honour of their family in the eyes of the community. This may lead to social ostracism, harassment and other forms of 'honour-based' violence from the family and community (see page 13).

# IF AN ADULT AT RISK IS REPATRIATED TO THE UK FROM OVERSEAS FOLLOWING A FORCED MARRIAGE

As a British National, the adult is entitled to a Community Care Assessment under the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002<sup>78</sup>.

To determine which authority should provide funding, 'ordinary residence' will need to be established. It is the local authority within which the adult had their last permanent residence which has financial responsibility. 'Ordinary resident' is described in detail in the Scottish Government Circular CCD 3/2010<sup>79</sup>.

For safety, the adult may need to be accommodated or relocated with a different local authority. This may require a transition period while funding and support is negotiated.

# IF A SPOUSE WHO IS AN ADULT AT RISK HAS COME TO THE UK FROM OVERSEAS

If someone comes to the UK from overseas on a spousal or other temporary visa, she may have 'no recourse to public funds' (see page 73). She may believe she has no option but to remain in the marriage and feel unable to co-operate with social work or anyone in 'authority'. She may not speak English and may not be aware of sources of support. See section 5 for information about support available.

Under the domestic violence concession (see page 133) she can apply for indefinite leave to remain as a spouse of a person present and settled in the UK.

Anyone who has been granted 'indefinite leave to enter or remain', refugee leave, humanitarian protection, discretionary leave or who has a right of abode in the UK is entitled to access public funds on the same basis as a British citizen. They are also entitled to a community care assessment.

www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2002/5/contents

<sup>79</sup> www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/publications/CC2010\_03.pdf

# 18. GUIDELINES FOR LOCAL AUTHORITY HOUSING STAFF

This chapter focuses on options for emergency and permanent accommodation under homelessness legislation (see page 72). The specific actions you take will depend on the particular circumstances of the case. A victim may need to be accommodated elsewhere in the UK or may have come to your authority from another part of Scotland, elsewhere in the UK or from overseas.

First, read the key practice messages on page 1.

See also section 2: information for all practitioners.

# **CASE STUDY**

V was 16 and could not stay at home. She was temporarily re-housed in refuge accommodation in England. It was very difficult to arrange this because she was viewed as an adult in Scotland but a child elsewhere in UK (with implications for statutory funding, refuge availability and so on). She had to leave school in Scotland as a result of relocating and, although she continued to receive support from the police and a women's organisation, she was very isolated. No civil case was pursued. Despite repeated attempts by family and community members/organisations to obtain information, her whereabouts have not been compromised. She remains completely cut off from her family.

#### BACKGROUND

Victims may present to you as homeless or at risk of homelessness. You may also be contacted by a third party such as the Forced Marriage Unit or police. This may be in an emergency. Forced marriage is a form of domestic abuse and, therefore, the local housing authority has a duty to secure accommodation for victims under homelessness legislation (see page 72).

# **HOW HOUSING STAFF CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE**

For victims of forced marriage, leaving the family can be very hard. BME women can feel this acutely given the very close nature of some family structures and especially those with a disability or illness and young people. The victim may have no experience of life outside the family.

Those who do leave often live in fear of their families who go to considerable lengths to find them and ensure their return. They are often subjected to extreme violence and threats. So, it is vital to ensure that those fleeing forced marriage have somewhere safe to stay. Housing staff can help by providing safe accommodation, in an emergency, temporarily and permanently. You should also cooperate across local authority area boundaries in order to facilitate the movement of victims if required for their safety.

The circumstances of forced marriage are such that victims may return to families and communities. This is not a failure on their part. Stress to victims that your service is always available.

Some women who present to you may not have the correct documents to prove their identity; some may be British nationals but may not be able to prove this. Others may not have leave to remain in the UK and, therefore, will not have recourse to public funds (see below). But, whatever their situation, front line staff in local housing authorities should be aware of the extreme risks facing victims and be prepared to help. Even if a woman has 'no recourse to public funds' there may be actions you can take in partnership with other agencies, at least in the short term.

Local authorities are frequently reluctant to accommodate older teenagers, especially those aged 16 and 17. There are particular issues for young women in this age group who may be particularly vulnerable because of age, inexperience and suggestibility but not in the category of 'a child'. Young people in these circumstances may have led a very sheltered existence and be particularly naïve and vulnerable to risk. You should be very sensitive to their needs for safety and security. It is important to ensure that you have procedures in place and that there is clear consideration of the range of assistance for young people who do not fit within adult support and protection or child protection processes.

The focus should not be on age. It should be on taking action. Any young person who is a victim, or potential victim of forced marriage, requires vigorous protective action. You have an important role in providing the level of inter-agency protection that she requires.

This includes ensuring that all partner agencies providing homeless accommodation on behalf of local authorities, such as housing association and private sector landlords, are competent to identify and respond consistently, safely and effectively when forced marriage is an issue.

# YOUR RESPONSE

To respond to a victim of forced marriage:

- See page 52 for recommended actions in all cases
- Gather information as carefully and as discretely as possible (see page 55)
- Seek advice from your local authority forced marriage lead officer and legal services department
- If necessary, seek advice from the local authority adult support and protection/child protection lead officer
- Discuss case with Forced Marriage Unit (for professional immigration advice)
- If appropriate, refer to support services experienced in working with survivors of domestic abuse and forced marriage such as Shakti Women's Aid in Edinburgh and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid in Glasgow



 Mediation with the family or other community members should not be attempted as this may endanger her further (see page 44)

# **HOUSING OPTIONS**

- You should take full account of the victim's needs and wishes together with a detailed risk assessment in arranging emergency, temporary and permanent accommodation
- Her housing plan, temporary and permanent, should be based on her needs and the risks she faces
- This means taking into consideration whether she should be accommodated in an area where there are members of her community. Although she might be less isolated, there are potential dangers. You should discuss this fully with her
- The victim may want to be accommodated locally, with good safety planning in place (see page 48) and legal protection (see section 3)
- Many women need to be housed (temporarily) and/or (permanently) elsewhere in Scotland or the UK (away from perpetrators and the wider community)
- Women's Aid provides a network of safe refuges across the UK. Shakti Women's Aid and Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid (see pages 126 and 127) have refuges In Scotland specifically for BME women but all Women's Aid groups can provide refuge and other support. This is important as women may need or want to go elsewhere in Scotland or the UK for safety reasons



It is vital that you take account of women's need for safety in considering the suitability of different types of temporary accommodation. A scatterflat with support is a good option. Managed group accommodation, such as a hostel, is likely to be a more supportive and safe environment (but see below) than the relative isolation and limited facilities of a B&B which should not be used

- Hostels for female victims should be for women only
- You should take extra care if placing victims in 'mainstream' hostels to avoid intimidation and bullying from other residents
- The address should be confidential
- The accommodation should not in the middle of a dense BME community area
- Young people leaving their families may need additional support with 'life skills' as they may have been very 'protected' within their family environment
- Refuge accommodation for male victims tends to be limited so hostels may be the only alternative



- Do not use a relative, friend, community leader or neighbour as an interpreter (see page 35)
- O Do not tell family members or friends where the woman is
- You may be asked or pressured by relatives, councillors, MPs, MSPs, and those with influence within the community for information or to say where the person is living. They may give you a very plausible reason for the request and may be well-intentioned. Do not divulge any information. This may place the victim in great danger

# ADULT SUPPORT AND PROTECTION AND ACCOMMODATION

If you suspect or believe that an adult at risk (see page 109) is a victim, or in danger of, forced marriage, refer to local authority adult protection procedures and contact your local adult (public) protection unit.

# **CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE**

Local authorities have a duty to ensure that children and young people are protected. This includes having somewhere safe to live. Children and young people who have been forced to marry and those who are estranged from their families because of their refusal to accept a forced marriage often require long-term accommodation to help them live away from their families and start a new life.

The National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland (2010)<sup>80</sup> sets out local authority responsibilities, including those of housing staff to provide a multi-agency response.

If a child or young person presents as a victim, or potential victim of forced marriage, you should immediately initiate child protection procedures and contact your child protection lead officer or the local authority lead officer for forced marriage.

You must deal with the young person as sensitively as possible and be aware of the very serious risks that she faces.

The fact that a child or young person under the age of 16 may have gone through a form of marriage does not detract from your responsibilities to assess the child's needs and take action to protect her, including providing her with accommodation.

Section 25(3) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995<sup>81</sup> enables a local authority to provide accommodation for any person within their area who is over 18 but not yet 21, if they consider that to do so would safeguard or promote their welfare.

# OTHER LEGAL REMEDIES TO PROTECT ADULTS AND CHILDREN

A victim can take action to protect themselves using orders including: Forced Marriage Protection Order; Matrimonial/Domestic Interdict; Non-harassment Order; Exclusion Order. It is also possible for a third party (see page 62) to apply to the court for a Forced Marriage Protection Order.

Funding for legal advice is not counted as public funds, and individuals may be entitled to free legal advice whatever their immigration status.

See section 3 for more information.

<sup>80</sup> www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0

<sup>81</sup> www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents

# NO RECOURSE TO PUBLIC FUNDS

People whose immigration status means they do not have a legal right to UK public service funds have few options for housing and financial support (see page 73). The Sojourner Project (see page 127) provides funding for housing essential living costs to help women across the UK who flee an abusive partner/husband. It is for women with 'no recourse to public funds', who entered the UK on a spousal or partner visa and are eligible to apply for Indefinite Leave to Remain (ILR) under the Domestic Violence Immigration Rule (see page 133).

# **CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION SHARING**

See page 39.

# **RECORDING AND STORING DATA**

See page 46.

# SECTION 5

# CONTACTS AND INFORMATION

Protect the child from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse.

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 19

- **19.** Key contacts
- 20. Resources and further reading

# 19. KEY CONTACTS

This section gives details of national support agencies and other useful contacts for agencies which have a particular expertise relevant to forced marriage. This is not an exhaustive list but the agencies below should also be able to provide signposting to local services.

## **GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS**

#### Forced Marriage Unit

Joint Foreign & Commonwealth Office/Home Office service

# www.fco.gov.uk/forcedmarriage

Helpline: 020 7008 0151 (Mon-Fri: 9am-5pm)

Email: fmu@fco.gov.uk

For emergencies out of hours, phone 020 7008 1500 and ask for the Global

Response Centre

# • Foreign and Commonwealth Office

Represents the UK Government overseas

www.fco.gov.uk

# British High Commissions and Embassies

For details of all British High Commissions and Embassies see online at www.fco.gov.uk/en/travel-and-living-abroad/find-an-embassy

## Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner

Responsible for regulating immigration advisers

http://oisc.homeoffice.gov.uk

#### • UK Border Agency

Enforces immigration and customs regulations and considers applications for permission to enter or stay in the UK, and for citizenship and asylum

www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk

# **HELP FOR VICTIMS**

#### Shakti Women's Aid

Support, advocacy, refuge and information to all black minority ethnic women, children and young people experiencing and/or fleeing domestic abuse

www.shaktiedinburgh.co.uk

Helpline: 0131 475 2399

# Hemat Gryffe Women's Aid

Support, advocacy, refuge and information for black minority ethnic women, children and young people experiencing and/or fleeing domestic abuse

# www.hematgryffe.org.uk

Helpline: 0141 353 0859

#### Scottish Women's Aid

National organisation responding to domestic abuse against women, children and young people with network of local member groups providing direct services and refuge accommodation across Scotland

## www.scottishwomensaid.org.uk

Business line: 0131 226 6606

# Scottish Domestic Abuse helpline

For anyone who has experienced domestic abuse (signposting for male victims) 0800 027 1234 (24 hours)

## Sojourner Project

Help for women with no recourse to public funds, who entered the UK on a spousal or partner visa and are eligible to apply for Indefinite Leave to Remain (ILR) under the Domestic Violence Rule

#### www.eaves4women.co.uk/Sojourner/Sojourner.php

Duty worker: 0207 840 7147

## • Amina Muslim Women's Resource Centre

Muslim women's resource centre which works with Muslim women and promotes understanding of their needs

## www.mwrc.org.uk

Helpline: 0808 801 0301

#### Saheliya

Supports the mental health and well-being of black and minority ethnic women in Edinburgh

# www.saheliya.org.uk

#### • Rape Crisis Scotland Helpline

For anyone, male or female who has experienced sexual violence

# www.rapecrisisscotland.org.uk

08088 01 03 02 (daily 6pm to midnight)

## CHILDREN-SPECIFIC

#### Child Line

Counselling service for children and young people

#### www.childline.org.uk

Helpline: 0800 1111 (24 hours)

# Scotland's Commissioner for Children and Young People

Promotes the rights of children and young people

## www.sccyp.org.uk

Young person's freephone: 0800 019 1179

#### Scottish Child Law Centre

Free legal advice for and about children

# www.sclc.org.uk/

Helpline for under 18s: 0800 328 8970

Advice line: 0131 667 6333

#### **MEN-SPECIFIC**

#### Men in Mind

Edinburgh-based services for black and minority ethnic men who are experiencing any issue that may affect their mental health and wellbeing **www.health-in-mind.org.uk/services/men-in-mind.html** 

#### www.nearth-in-inina.org.ok/services/inen-in-inina.i

#### Men's Advice Line

Confidential helpline for men experiencing domestic abuse (including forced marriage)

#### www.mensadviceline.org.uk

Helpline: 0808 801 0327

See also: www.respect.uk.net/pages/male-victims-of-forced-marriage.html

#### OTHER SUPPORT

#### • LGBT Domestic Abuse Project

Scotland's Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender domestic abuse project

#### www.lgbtdomesticabuse.org.uk

See also www.fco.gov.uk/resources/en/pdf/foced-marriage-lgbt (sic)

#### Samaritans

Confidential emotional support service

#### www.samaritans.org

Helpline: 08457 90 90 90 (24 hours)

If abroad see **www.befrienders.org** for nearest helpline

#### Scottish Refugee Council

Helps refugees and people seeking asylum in Scotland

www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk

# Victim Support Scotland

Provides emotional support, practical help and essential information to victims, witnesses and others affected by crime

# www.victimsupportsco.org.uk

Helpline: 0845 603 9213

#### Voice UK

Supports people with learning disabilities and other vulnerable people who have experienced crime or abuse

# www.voiceuk.org.uk

Helpline: 0808 802 8686

# **LAW AND RIGHTS**

#### Citizens Advice Scotland

#### www.cas.org.uk

#### • Ethnic Minorities Law Centre

Provides legal services exclusively to black and ethnic minority communities **www.emlc.org.uk** 

# • Family Law Association

Provides a point of reference for the public and for other organisations on family law issues

# www.familylawassociation.org

#### Law Society of Scotland

Professional governing body for Scottish solicitors

# www.lawscot.org.uk

#### Scottish Courts

Single access point for information relating to civil and criminal courts within Scotland

# www.scotcourts.gov.uk

# Scottish Legal Aid Board

Responsible for managing legal aid in Scotland

#### www.slab.org.uk

# • Scottish Children's Reporter Administration

National body focused on children most at risk

## www.scra.gov.uk/home/index.cfm

## • Shelterline

Free, national telephone advice line

http://scotland.shelter.org.uk

Helpline: 0808 800 4444

# **TELEPHONE INTERPRETING**

# • Language Line

Telephone interpreting for emergency and non-emergency needs **www.languageline.co.uk** 

# 20. RESOURCES AND FURTHER READING

The following section provides links to websites which include useful resources and background information and a list of relevant books and films.

# **Forced Marriage Unit**

UK-based

Animated documentaries: www.fco.gov.uk/en/travel-and-living-abroad/when-things-go-wrong/forced-marriage/forced-marriage-animations

Case studies of good practice: www.fco.gov.uk/en/travel-and-living-abroad/

#### Karma Nirvana

## www.karmanirvana.org.uk

England-based. Supports victims and survivors of forced marriage and honour based abuse

#### **Forward**

## www.forwarduk.org.uk/resources/resources#id7

when-things-go-wrong/forced-marriage/case-studies/

England-based. Works with individuals, communities and organisations to transform harmful practices and improve the quality of life of vulnerable girls and women

## **Rights of Women**

#### www.rightsofwomen.org.uk

England-based. Produces variety of publications on women and immigration

#### **Southall Black Sisters**

#### www.southallblacksisters.org.uk

England-based not-for-profit organisation, which aims to meet the needs of black (Asian and African-Caribbean) women

#### **Ashiana**

# www.ashiana.org.uk

England-based. Support for South Asian, Turkish and Iranian women

#### **Newham Asian Women's Project**

## www.nawp.org

England-based. Support for South Asian women and their children fleeing domestic abuse

#### **Henna Foundation**

#### www.hennafoundation.org

Wales-based. Works nationally and internationally to advance the needs, concerns and aspirations of Muslim women, children and the families that they live within

#### **Ann Craft Trust**

# www.anncrafttrust.org/index.php

England-based. Works to ensure that organisations which support disabled children and vulnerable adults are aware of abuse and protection issues. See also Forced Marriage and Learning Disabilities: www.fco.gov.uk/resources/en/pdf/travel-living-abroad/when-things-go-wrong/fm-disability-guidelines

#### **Ishara Deaf Connections**

# www.deafconnections.co.uk/Table/Ishara/

Information on forced marriage in sign language online

# Good practice guidance on interpreting for women who have experienced gender based violence

# www.womenssupportproject.co.uk/userfiles/file/GVAWP%20Good%20 Practice%20Guide%202011%20Final%20Nov.pdf

Guidance on interpreting produced by Glasgow Violence Against Women Partnership

#### **BOOKS**

#### **Fiction**

Arranged Marriage by Chitra Banerjee Divakaruni Brick Lane by Monica Ali The Marriage Bureau for Rich People by Farahad Zama. (Un)arranged Marriage by Bali Rai

#### Memoir

Daughters of Shame by Jasvinder Sanghera Sold by Zana Muhsen Shame by Jasvinder Sanghera Unbroken Spirit by Ferzanna Riley Without Mercy by Miriam Ali

## **Non-fiction**

Marital Discord: Recapturing the full Islamic spirit of Human Dignity by Abusulayman Abdul Hamid Pathways to Justice by Rights of Women The Muslim Marriage Guide by Rugaiyyah Waris Magsood

What Islam Really Says About Domestic Abuse by Shaykh Amer Jamil

# FILMS AND VIDEOS

# No Dowry No Date (DVD and training pack)

Glasgow Life on behalf of Glasgow City Council: www.glasgowlife.org.uk

Short drama-documentary film exploring the subject of arranged marriage. It is an imaginary Asian version of the popular TV show 'Blind Date', and is used as a comic setting in which characters are created as Asian stereotypes. The finished film is an entertaining insight into this much misunderstood part of Asian culture. The idea was originated by a group of 11-17 year old Glaswegian Asian girls, 'Girlz in Da Hood', a Glasgow City Council Cultural and Leisure Youth Services Group. Comes with a training pack for teachers.

#### Al Jazeera

# http://english.aljazeera.net

Various online clips and films including Al Jazeera's 'Everywoman' series, with documentaries and correspondence on forced marriage including 'Eat Sugar and Speak Sweetly'

# Killing in the Name of Honour

# www.cultureunplugged.com/play/5114/Killing-in-the-Name-of-Honour-Turkey-Women-on-the-Frontline

Documentary about 'honour killing' in Turkey

# Tying the Knot Faction Films: www.factionfilms.co.uk

12-minute video for young people (12-18) featuring young people's views on marriage. The video distinguishes between arranged and forced marriages. There is also an accompanying pack with background information and discussion points

#### **Love Snatched** Faction Films

Tells the stories of several young peoples' fight for freedom.

#### Narina's Story Faction Films

Narina describes her escape from the threat of a forced marriage, along with her two sisters

# **Watch Over Me II**

# www.kidstaskforce.com/watchover.html

'Soap'-based educational programme based on real experiences and see a range of characters involved in different issues including forced marriage. Comes with a teacher's guide (for use in England)

#### Other

Other films containing some of the issues connected to forced marriage include East is East (15), Monsoon Wedding (15), Bride and Prejudice (12A), Ae Fond Kiss (15) (which is set in Scotland) Brick Lane (15), Provoked (15), Khuda Ke Liye (In the Name of God) (15), Bend it Like Beckham (12), Bol (15)

# 21. APPENDIX: DOMESTIC VIOLENCE<sup>82</sup> PROVISIONS IN THE IMMIGRATION RULES

Anyone who has limited leave to enter or remain (also known as temporary permission) in the UK as the spouse, unmarried partner, registered civil partner or same-sex partner of a British citizen or person present and settled in the UK and whose relationship breaks down during the probationary period as a result of domestic violence, may apply to be granted settlement in the UK.

This is provided that the domestic violence occurred during the probationary period while the relationship was subsisting, and the applicant is able to provide evidence that domestic violence has taken place and caused the relationship to break down permanently. The violence can be psychological, physical, sexual or emotional. It can include 'honour-based violence', female genital mutilation and forced marriage.

Applicants need to submit as much information and evidence as possible. Examples are given on the UKBA website (www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/sitecontent/documents/residency/dv-victims-settlement.pdf).

## These include:

- A court order in connection with the domestic violence
- Evidence of a Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference being convened on the applicant's behalf
- A medical report from a hospital doctor confirming that the applicant has injuries consistent with being the victim of domestic violence, and/or a letter from a GP who has examined the applicant and is satisfied that the applicant has injuries consistent with being a victim of domestic violence
- An undertaking given to a court that the perpetrator of the violence will not approach the applicant who is the victim of the violence
- A police report confirming attendance at an incident resulting from domestic violence
- A letter from a social work department confirming its involvement in connection with domestic violence
- A letter of support or a report from a domestic violence support organisation The application should be made on a current SET (DV) Form (application for indefinite leave to remain as a victim of domestic violence): www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/visas-immigration/settlement/applicationtypes/applicationformset(dv)

# **FURTHER INFORMATION:**

Immigration Enquiry Bureau: 0870 606 7766 www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk

The term 'domestic violence' is used by the UK Government and the UK Border Agency



© Crown copyright 2011

ISBN: 978-1-78045-493-1

This document is also available on the Scottish Government website: www.scotland.gov.uk

APS Group Scotland DPPAS12171 (11/11)